

MAINE STATE LEGISLATURE

The following document is provided by the
LAW AND LEGISLATIVE DIGITAL LIBRARY
at the Maine State Law and Legislative Reference Library
<http://legislature.maine.gov/lawlib>



Reproduced from scanned originals with text recognition applied
(searchable text may contain some errors and/or omissions)

STATE OF MAINE

HUMAN RESOURCES COMMITTEE

Hearing on Augusta Mental Health Institute Issues held on February 7, 1989, in Room 113 of the State Office Building, Augusta, Maine.

Norma Morrisette

I N D E X

WITNESSES

PAGE

PANEL:

BANCROFT, Tom; SALVIDAR, Joyce; WALSH, Peter

Presentation by MR. WALSH

H-2

Examination by Rep. Pederson

H-8

" " Rep. Burke

H-16, H-34

" " Rep. Boutilier

H-29

" " Rep. Rolde

H-32

" " Rep. Cathcart

H-38

" " Rep. Clark

H-43

" " Rep. Manning

H-49

Augusta, Maine
February 7, 1989
9:15 a.m.

REPRESENTATIVE MANNING: Just to go over a couple of things, when the Senate comes down to the upper chambers -

SENATOR GAUVREAU: Over to the upper chambers.

REP. MANNING: Only a few times can you take a shot at the Senate. When the Senate comes down to the House, we will adjourn - we will recess or adjourn immediately, because at that point the Chief Justice will not be that far behind, so we will recess immediately and we will come back in, I would say, 1:15 this afternoon and finish up on the Human Services area. It was decided yesterday that the committee would go and hear the Chief Justice, because it is an important part of the legislative agenda to understand what is going on in the judiciary, so we will - if we adjourn quickly, please don't think that we're cutting anybody off. It's just that we will go back in - we will come back in this afternoon.

This morning we are going to be hearing from Peter Walsh and the people who did the investigation for the guardians of the wards of the state at AMHI, and I'll lead off with Peter and he can do the presentation from there. Peter.

MR. WALSH: Thank you, Representative Manning, Senator Gauvreau, members of the committee. My name is Peter Walsh, I'm Director of the Bureau of Social Services in the Maine Department of Human Services. On my right is Joyce Saldivar, who is the Director of our Adult Services Program, which is in the Bureau of Social Services, and on my left is Tom Bancroft, who is the Manager of the Guardianship Program in the department. Tom was

the team leader on the assessments that we conducted at AMHI.

To begin our presentation, and I would say that we are here mostly to answer questions, but we thought it might be useful for the committee to briefly trace the history of the guardianship program and tell you a little bit what its purpose and functions are.

The present statute that governs the guardianship program was enacted in 1981. Maine did have a public guardianship program since about 1973, but up until the early 1980s there were very, very few people who were in the public guardianship program. I remember back in the late 70s and early 80s that we had no more than four people who were public wards and had been assigned to the public guardianship program. After the revisions in the probate code, there was a change that affected the guardianship program, one of which - the change said that persons could come into the - become wards of the state for what is called limited guardianships, that is that the state did not have to take control of their total person but they could take limited control over, for instance, financial matters or some aspects of decision-making rather than becoming the total surrogate for the person, so that we could get involved with medical decisions or psychiatric decisions and not get involved with the total aspects of a person's life.

At about the same time, nationwide and in Maine there were a series of hearings leading to the Informed Consent Doctrines, which is the one that says that for people who are incapacitated or dependent, they needed somebody, surrogates, to help make

decisions, critical decisions about their lives. There were hospitals and nursing homes that started requesting public guardians for treatment purposes, where in the past nursing homes, hospitals, AMHI, public institutions had basically decided what types of treatment was required by people and then would provide that treatment. Now you had a change to where they wanted an outside perspective. They wanted somebody else to come in and say, yes, we authorize this particular type of treatment because we don't believe that this patient is capable of informed consent regarding the treatment. So in the early and then the mid 1980s we started getting a lot of requests from nursing homes and public and private institutions to provide the guardianship service. Along with the informed consent, at the same time people were concerned with liability issues, and this was again one of the reasons why they wanted somebody from the outside to come in and basically make surrogate decisions. So in the early 1980s we began to get a number of requests to do studies, guardianship studies, in nursing homes, at AMHI and BMHI and in other private institutions, and at that time we contracted with a consultant that we brought on board, because we were, in many cases, being asked to make decisions about people who had been long-term residents of these facilities. We did not know them, we had had no contact with them, so we had to do a lot of background information in terms of reviewing their records, contacting relatives. The law says that we should first try to find private guardians, that public guardians should be the last resort. So in late 1983 and '84,

we had less than 75 total cases of people who were wards in our public guardianship program. But again, that had gone up from about four, again, as I remember, in 1979 and 1980. We only had, again, four people. We essentially did not have a public guardianship program.

From '83 to '84 and 1985, the number went from 75 to 121. Then the next year it went to 140. These were new cases that were coming in to us each year, so we were scrambling at this time to try to keep up with this whole brand new influx. We had to learn ourselves what it meant to be a guardian for somebody, especially people who had been long-time residents of institutions.

In 1984, as a result of a Mental Health Task Force Report, the Informed Consent Doctrine was extended to the mental health facilities, and at that time AMHI and BMHI could no longer treat without having the informed consent of the patients. So, in two to three years, we went from having no wards in our program from the institutes - in two or three years from zero to 50 and we now have approximately 45 to 50 wards at both AMHI and BMHI.

As one response to this in the Department of Human Services, in 1985 we separated our protective services and our guardianship program. Protective services is one where persons are - some persons are mandated to make referrals on abuse or neglect of adults, and we have a staff of people who go out and do an investigation to see if an adult is abused, neglected or exploited, and at one time we had - the guardianship program was such a small one that we combined the guardianship and the protective -

they were part of one program, and in 1985, to respond to the increasing number of guardians - wards coming in, we separated those two programs.

In 1985, we had 203 open guardianship cases, and 150 of those persons were in institutions. Now we had a fixed number of staff in our protective and guardianship program, so at that time we assigned three caseworkers to work with public wards in the facilities. Again, in 1989 we had 235 people in the facilities. So as you can see, over a decade we've gone from a zero really, basically, program, very small, to one in which we have now 235 persons in facilities, and we have about another almost 200. There's a total of 428 persons overall who are in the public guardianship program. Now many of these people live in boarding homes, adult homes throughout the community, or in other places, their own homes.

From 1982 to '85, the numbers of caseworkers in the guardianship program - in the adult services program increased from 29 to 43, and since 1985 we have had no increases in staff. This year, we're adding four positions within the next month or so, and we do have a budget request in as part of the budget for additional staff because of the growth in this program.

From 1983 to 1988, we've served over 700 people in the guardianship program.

There has been some talk about the committal process. How does someone get committed and how do they come into - become a part of the public guardianship program. As you are aware, the

involuntary commitment process is basically spelled out in 34-B. A person must be mentally ill or danger to self or others and inability to care for self. The Department of Human Services gets involved either because we come onto somebody through our protective services program and think that they need to be placed at AMHI or BMHI, or because the institute has a person whom they believe fits the definition of an incapacitated or dependent adult, and they request guardianship.

So if we - if through our protective process, if when we're doing an investigation we believe that someone is in need of placement, we would arrange to have that person evaluated at a community mental health center, and then the mental health center makes the decision about whether the person should be sent to AMHI or BMHI. In other words, we can recommend that a commitment be made, but the community mental health center does the evaluation and then actually, I think, has to have a district court judge send the person to AMHI and then AMHI does its own determination on commitment. So essentially it's a different process, I guess is the point that I'm trying to make, between somebody being - having the Department of Human Services as its public guardian and the committal process for a mentally ill person.

For somebody to be in the public guardian program, they must, in addition to being mentally ill and meeting those other standards, they must also meet the definition in the adult protective services law regarding incapacitation. They must be

unable to make decisions in their own best interest, and that's defined in the Probate Code.

So if a person is already in the guardianship program, if we have somebody who is at AMHI already, and I think that of the 45 wards at AMHI, 39 of them were already there and we were requested to become the guardian. In other words, we did not make a referral on 39 people. Some of them had lived there for years and years and years, and we were asked to come in in the 1980s and begin participating in the treatment planning for these people.

That's a brief overview of the adult services program and our involvement through the committal process. The next thing I was going to do was go through a chronology of events that led us into our evaluation of the wards at AMHI. I don't know if you want - if people have questions right now that they want to ask about the guardianship program.

SEN. GAUVREAU: Representative Dellert.

REP. DELLERT: I was curious, Peter. How would someone get out of protective custody, you know, if the family or someone wanted them out of it?

MR. WALSH: You're talking about the guardianship program?

REP. DELLERT: Guardianship. I'm sorry, guardianship.

MR. BANCROFT: If I may, Representative Dellert, we would proceed back to probate court for a motion to dismiss, and so it would be another hearing to dismiss, and we do terminate many guardianships, many for reason of death, many elderly people. We have a 20% -

we have a lot of elderly people, a high percentage, about 70%, so many terminate just that way. We terminate many, as many as we can, at least, because we have a mandate toward less restrictive alternatives, we terminate many if incapacitation no longer exists, so we go back to court to do that.

REP. DELLERT: Thank you.

PANEL - PETER WALSH, TOM BANCROFT, JOYCE SALDIVAR

EXAMINATION BY REP. PEDERSON

Q. Do you have a liability in becoming guardian? Do you have any liability when you become the guardian?

MR. WALSH: Whatever liability we have is protected through statute. I don't believe we've been -

MR. BANCROFT: Our best advice is, I guess, that we are somewhat protected by the Maine Tort Claims Act. How much we are hasn't been tested yet, as yet. I hope that's not to be tested, but it hasn't been tested yet.

MR. WALSH: But certainly I can foresee that there will be circumstances where people will disagree with our decisions. We've been involved in a number of controversial cases; for instance, the Gardiner case, we were asked to provide our recommendations regarding that particular case. We're involved in a lot of really new kinds of things about right to die and ethical questions and, you know, at what point do we stop providing treatment or even basic support systems to people. So we as the public guardian are daily making decisions about provision of treatment, provision of medical treatment, provision

of mental health treatment, right to die issues, so it is an area that I'm sure is one that is going to be tested further in the courts.

SEN. GAUVREAU: Generally speaking, the department would be immune under the Maine Tort Claims Act, and someone would have to bring a civil action and actually seek leave of the legislature, such as you will see on the Senate Calendar today, this lady on Item 1-6 is seeking leave of the legislature to allow her to bring a civil action against the Department Human Services and its employees, but absent that, the members of the department will be immune under sovereign immunity.

REP. PEDERSON: The other question, I had a question on committal law. You've done a lot of work with that and I think that there's a lot of concern about maybe some change in the committal law, and some of it might be to your advantage when you work as a guardian. Can you comment on the committal law and ways that it might make it easier to get treatment for clients, ways that would be more justly done, or anything of that nature?

MS. SALDIVAR: That would probably take an hour to really address - even begin to address adequately. But when we talk about the committal, briefly, Peter addressed prior two, but once people are in AMHI, for example, they do go through the recommittal process, and those are two separate kind of -

Q. Do you think that - I'll have to ask you this, do you think there might be changes in the committal law that might work better for all the people concerned?

MS. SALDIVAR: I guess I'm really not qualified to answer that.

MR. WALSH: We don't have a position on that. Again, we recommend through the existing committal process and we receive requests to have people put into our guardianship program, but we really haven't taken a position on that. We would have to see what the proposals were and see how they affected our particular work.

The committal process up until now for us in terms of our perspective on it with our wards, I don't think we have major problems with the way it operates now. That's not to say that somebody other - some others who are more involved with it shouldn't comment on it.

Q. What do you do now when you have - you're the guardian and your client refuses treatment?

MR. BANCROFT: Acting as guardian, our mandate is to act in the best interests of the ward, not necessarily what the ward might have wanted themselves. I don't think most of us would agree voluntarily sometimes to some of the treatment that's being offered, but in their best interests, we make decisions in collaboration with the treaters at the facility, so that we act in place of the patient as surrogate.

Q. So sometimes you make a judgment that they really do need the treatment whether they want it or not?

MR. WALSH: Yes.

MR. BANCROFT: That's right.

MR. WALSH: When a person is in our full guardianship, again, not one of these limited guardianships, we do act as the person, and

again it's another step beyond mental illness, it's a step that says the person is not capable of making their own decisions, that they are incapacitated or dependent, so we will make that step. Now if we have somebody in the community that we believe is incapacitated or dependent, we don't always necessarily - those aren't always mentally ill as well, so we will often go to court - we have to go to court if a person is going to be placed into our guardianship program, and we have to prove to the court that the person is incapable of making their own decisions, is incapacitated to that extent.

We've seen many stories. We're involved in every one of those newspaper stories where you see that there's an elderly person living in her own home, the home is filthy and she's lost the capacity to take care of it and she has 20 dogs and the community, you know, wants the state to come in and get rid of her, we've seen all these stories over the years. We will be involved in most of those cases, and we have to walk a fine line between respecting the person's own ability to make decisions and seeing if it gets to a point where we believe that they can no longer make those decisions. And when we get to that point, we then have to go to court with witnesses and others and prove that we think that the person is no longer capable of making their own decisions.

REP. PEDERSON: Thank you.

SEN. GAUVREAU: Other questions? If not, why don't we proceed then to a narrative on events which led to the department's

investigation of AMHI conditions in October or November.

MR. WALSH: In May and June there began to be concerns about adequacy of treatment at AMHI from a variety of different sources. First of all there was the Medicare decertification. Secondly, Judge Mitchell, who is the Probate Judge who sits over at AMHI and is involved with the monitoring of many of our treatment plans, raised some concerns about some individual patients and some of things that he thought was happening to individual patients. In a June meeting that we had with the advocates in an inter-departmental meeting, it was identified that there were two specific wards at AMHI that people had some concerns about. In July of this past year, we investigated the two specific cases that were identified in that meeting, and at that point we made the decision that we should look into more than just those two specific wards.

In August, there were the deaths at AMHI, and then in August also, we received correspondence from the advocates for the disabled essentially asking us to do an investigation of all the patients at AMHI, not just our public wards. So as a result of all of those things coming together, our own investigation that we had started, our assessments of what was happening there, we decided that we should do a full-scale assessment of each one of our individual wards at AMHI and BMHI. We decided that we needed to take a look, the program had been growing so fast and there had been such complaints. So at that point Commissioner Ives ordered us to do an immediate assessment of all of our wards at

AMHI and BMHI, beginning at AMHI, and at that point, we started doing our assessments. As a result of the first assessments that we did, we found that there were some significant problems with the first few patients that we looked at, and as a result of that, we decided to speed up our investigation, and at that point we pulled people - we were just working with the people in the adult services program. So at that point we put together a team of persons. We brought people in from our child and family services program who had experience in investigations and had experience in this type of work, brought in a psychologist consultant as part of the team and some other members, and we did a - over the next month or so we did a review of all of the public wards at AMHI.

As a result of that review, we came up with a plan, first of all, a detailed number of problems that we found in regards to care and treatment of our wards at AMHI, and we listed out a number of recommendations for improved care and treatment for those wards.

I think you may have seen the summary that we have distributed.

SEN. GAUVREAU: There's a question from Representative Boutilier.

REP. BOUTILIER: As you proceed through - when you presented memos, when you presented a plan, could you give us the month, and if you can be exact, give us the dates that you did those things, because we have other time lines that we've been using, and it would be appropriate, I think, at least for me, and I think other members, so we would know exactly when these different proposals were presented?

SEN. GAUVREAU: We should have that report in our packet of materials.

MR. WALSH: I'm just a little bit unclear. Do you want me to go over it memo by memo? I've got a lot of memos that I gave to the commissioner.

REP. BOUTILIER: Well, for instance, you just mentioned you devised a plan of care and treatment and you submitted that. What date was it that you did that?

MR. WALSH: Okay, I'll start back in June. On June 13 Judge Mitchell raised some concerns regarding a couple of patients at AMHI, that was on June 13. On June 29 - and there were things that happened in between these, but on June 29 we did have a meeting with the Office of Advocacy in which they identified a couple of specific wards that they felt were in danger. In July, I don't have a specific date, but we did have our people investigate those two specific cases. It was an ongoing investigation through the month. On August 23 we received a letter from the advocate for the developmentally disabled again stating the problems that they saw and asking us to do a review of the - all of the - everybody at AMHI, but we just felt it was beyond our scope and capacity and that we didn't have the authority to do that.

SEN. GAUVREAU: Peter, can I stop you right there? I mean, that is a rather extraordinary request. Did the department correspond or communicate with the - they were then the advocates, now they're the Maine Advocacy Services, did you folks correspond with them and

indicate what concerns you had, and did you inquire why that entity would want the State of Maine DHS to do a broad survey of all the adults at AMHI?

MR. WALSH: We had been meeting with them, so we had been communicating with them about the various issues there and we did respond to their requests, and I'm looking for that letter. She wrote to us on August 23 regarding a report that was mailed to Commissioner Parker on August 19, with a copy that was sent to Richard Estabrook. And then she requested adult services to conduct an investigation into the deaths of the patients and that the division conduct an investigation of conditions relating to the safety and medical of the remaining residents at AMHI and that we provide protective services as necessary. So we wrote back and said that we were referring the deaths, including Mr. Poland, to the medical examiner and the office of the Attorney General, and that we would, under the mandates of the Adult Protective Services Act and the Probate Code, we were planning to focus on our public wards that were residents of AMHI and BMHI. And we said that we would conduct assessments of safety and medical care of the 47 DHS public wards at AMHI and 50 at BMHI and that we would notify Commissioner Parker of our pending assessments and offer cooperative efforts regarding the remaining residents at AMHI. So that was on August 31, actually, that we responded to the letter from Laura Petovello.

On August 26, again, Commissioner Ives ordered the immediate assessment of all the wards at AMHI and BMHI, and on August 29 we

sent a letter to the deputy superintendent at AMHI notifying them of our intent to do this. We received excellent cooperation. Tom was the team leader and he was the person who was over there supervising and involved in the individual assessments.

SEN. GAUVREAU: Representative Burke, I believe, has a question.

REP. BURKE: Did you say you referred some of it to the Attorney General's office?

MR. WALSH: Yes.

MS. SALDIVAR: The deaths.

MR. WALSH: The deaths, right.

REP. BURKE: Oh, just the deaths?

MR. WALSH: Right.

REP. BURKE: So no one, in actuality, did a complete assessment of the entire facility, except in light of your wards that were there?

MR. WALSH: Right. That's not our job in adult services -

REP. BURKE: That's fine, I'm just trying to clarify that.

Thank you.

MR. WALSH: On September 2, Commissioner Ives sent the letter to Commissioner Parker detailing our plans for the assessments, and on September 4 we began the assessments of the remaining wards. So that assessment took September and October, and a preliminary report was written and issued on November 10, and in that preliminary report we had an assessment that each one of our - we had a team that looked at each patient. We reviewed the records and in some cases talked to staff and in some cases,

where we could, talked to the patients - we talked to every patient. We came up with a series of conclusions and recommendations and we summarized those conclusions as follows:

We found that of the 45 patients, 12 were receiving treatment supervision and programs that we felt were commensurate, the team felt was commensurate for their needs and that they did not require any additional followup at the time.

We found that 33 wards required additional assessments or evaluations as follows: We referred 8 to our adult protective services program because of alleged patient to patient altercations with resulting harm or alleged neglect. Okay, now this is our guardianship program, and we found that there were some allegations of patient to patient altercations and we referred those to our protective services division for further investigation. We referred 7 - some of these are duplicates. These numbers don't all add up to 45. We may have had the same people that had two or three multiple referrals. Seven were referred to our adult services case manager. This is the person, the guardianship person who has responsibility for those persons to reassess the case plans, to coordinate with AMHI staff regarding those case plans, or to provide advocacy for the public ward. Fifteen cases were referred to a medical consultant to review medical issues such as incontinence, further diagnostic exams, seizures or review of medical notes. Sixteen were referred to a consulting psychiatrist to review their treatment plans, medication orders, diagnoses, use of seclusion and/or restraints and medical progress

notes. Eight were referred to a consulting occupational therapist to review individual program plans for less restrictive placements, transition plans and to develop or suggest approaches to difficult behaviors. Twenty one were referred to the AMHI superintendent to request that he review progress notes, medical notes and incident reports, notifications, the process that is used to notify guardians, especially when the guardian's authorization was required for treatment. I'll just say parenthetically, there are a lot of other people at AMHI who have guardians who are not the public guardians. Family members can be guardians, or other persons appointed by the courts. Treatment plans, conditions of living space, staffing levels and implementation of doctor's orders, and we said that this was a preliminary report that we were doing and that a final report would be completed when the results of the additional assessments or evaluations are received.

So what we did at that point was we first identified various medical, psychiatric and occupational consultants that we wanted to basically come in and give us a second opinion. That's what these referrals are all about. And we contracted with a psychiatrist, a physician, an occupational therapist and a psychologist to come in and review what we had found, review the records, review the referrals that we made to them. We're still getting those reports back. We have some of them back but we don't have them all back yet.

REP. BURKE: So who did the study for you, or was it people from your department went over and looked at AMHI?

MR. WALSH: Yes.

REP. BURKE: And then the records that you needed to review you showed to a second panel?

MR. WALSH: Not a panel.

REP. BURKE: A psychiatrist, medical doctor and occupational therapist?

MR. WALSH: Just on specific incidences where we felt there was something - their professional judgment.

REP. BURKE: Those people never actually went over to the facility to -

MR. WALSH: Oh, yes.

REP. BURKE: They did.

MR. BANCROFT: Right, at our request.

REP. BURKE: The same people who are looking at the charts also went over to the facility to -

MR. WALSH: No, we first had a team.

REP. BURKE: From your department.

MR. WALSH: From our department.

REP. BURKE: So there was no physician, no -

MR. WALSH: There was a psychologist that was a member of the team, an outside psychologist under contract with the department, not somebody who works for the department. Who are the other team members, Tom?

MR. BANCROFT: We did an assessment to determine - first of all, we did the assessment. The assessment team we set up as social workers and myself acting as public guardian, and several

other members were - I have a Master's Degree in Psychology and there was a BSW, a Bachelor of Social Work on our team. There was a casework supervisor, who is a certified licensed social worker, and there was one of the caseworkers who carried most of the cases over there that is a licensed social worker. We had the department aides coordinator, who was lent to us by Peter. We had a child and family services specialist and another child and family services specialist, but the idea originally was for us to go in more or less as lay people acting on behalf of the public ward looking for what might be missing or what - any questions that we raised, it was an assessment, it was not a professional evaluation at that point. When we saw questions that we felt needed to be answered, and we read the records thoroughly, we met with every patient regarding a ward that we were assessing and we saw their living conditions. If we had any questions whatsoever, we referred those to what we thought might be the appropriate people to professionally evaluate them, which might be a psychiatrist in the case of some medication reviews, or it might be an MD for what we thought might be unfollowed-up medical referrals, the occupational therapist for least restrictive living alternatives for somebody who might not need to be there in the first place, and the psychologist for possible testing for closed head injuries, for somebody who might not need to be there. So we raised the questions and then we brought in outside consultants to evaluate them.

REP. BURKE: Okay, thank you. I didn't mean to interrupt your

presentation. I was just getting confused.

MR. WALSH: And that's what we're receiving back now. We are now receiving the reports from the persons what we brought in for second opinions, and we are - during all this time Judge Mitchell asks for - to see the report, the initial report by the assessment team, the preliminary report, which we gave to him, and he has now asked us to give him followup reports on all of our wards on a regular basis. So as we get in the second opinions, we are forwarding those particular pieces of information to the Judge as well.

When we started this, it was our intention that we would first have the preliminary report that would identify the issues, identify recommendations, and then we would have the followup information that would come in from protective services, the various medical personnel. Then we would have the same thing happen at BMHI. We have started our assessments at BMHI, and then we may find that we need to have some outsiders come in there. So at the conclusion of all this, we will issue a final report. We are in the process right now of putting all of this information together. We knew that it was going to be an extended period of time that we would be involved with this, and at the same time we are beefing up our own staff, because our caseloads have just been too high. Given the growth of the program that I talked about and the lack of additional staff, our caseworkers themselves who have been over there just have had too many cases, so we're in the process of hiring additional staff right now for

both AMHI and BMHI for our protective program and our guardianship program.

SEN. GAUVREAU: Peter, when do you contemplate the final report might be available to the - to your department or to the legislature?

MS. SALDIVAR: It really depends on when we get all of the followup information, and there have been some delays in some of them.

MR. WALSH: At BMHI we've just started.

MS. SALDIVAR: And then the whole followup case. Also, while we -

SEN. GAUVREAU: Well, the committee, we have to be concerned, obviously. We're not interested in particular cases with identifying materials, that clearly is confidential under our statutes, as well as federal statutes, but we obviously are keenly interested in what direction the department might take, and in that regard I was going to ask, is it possible or does the department contemplate, perhaps, moving individuals from their current environmental milieus depending upon the results of the report?

MR. WALSH: Right. Just let me answer your first question. I do not believe it is going to be - it will probably be six months. I don't want to say it's going to be two months and then not have it done. We have to complete the assessments at BMHI. But each one of these chapters in the final report, so to speak, basically, in some ways stands on its own. We've done our assessments. We have our recommendations and now we're receiving

back information on what we should do next. So the final - and we have already made some determinations about how we're going to change our practice in terms of our involvement over there. So the final report is going to take us - finishing, getting back all the second opinions, conducting the assessments at AMHI, doing whatever followup will be necessary there, and then putting the final report together, so that's why I say, we've just started the assessments at BMHI, so it's probably going to be, I would say, six months to be safe.

SEN. GAUVREAU: The second part of my question was, do you expect moving any patients from their current location based upon your assessments?

MR. WALSH: We have looked at a couple of individual patients - Tom, do you want to speak to that?

MR. BANCROFT: We are contemplating moving one patient - well, we are moving one patient if we can get the funding, and we are contemplating moving some others in cooperation with AMHI. The one that we've determined that probably doesn't need to be there is a closed head injury, a young man who suffered - in his record it was noted that he had suffered a closed head injury, alleged closed head injury someplace in Texas when he was a young man and it appeared that his behavior problems stem from that and it's relatively - it's a relatively common event in closed head injuries that the symptoms - and I'm not a psychologist, this is from an educated lay person's point of view - they mimic mental illness, some of the symptoms, so that this young

man was being treated at AMHI, very appropriately treated at AMHI, but he didn't have a major mental illness. His problems stemmed from closed head injury. So we got an evaluation from a neurologist and then we made a referral to an outfit in Massachusetts called New Medico, who specializes in closed head injuries, and they did - came up from Massachusetts and did their evaluation, which was very extensive. The evaluation for a closed head injury is a series of separate evaluations. We've been through all those evaluations and he has been determined to be a closed head injured patient who could benefit from their treatment program in Massachusetts. However, the Medicaid funding mechanism which might pay for this has contracts with five closed head injury facilities, three in Maine and two in New Hampshire, and we had to go through a series of refusals from those facilities as being inappropriate for their facility because of his behavior in order to now go back to - and we have those five refusals and now we have to go back to Medicaid and make a case for Medicaid paying \$754 a day in Massachusetts for this treatment. That's where we are now.

SEN. GAUVREAU: Okay. Well the thrust of my question -

MR. BANCROFT: If you asked us are we considering moving, there's one.

SEN. GAUVREAU: That's one patient, but I guess -

MR. BANCROFT: There are others who while suffering from major mental illness might benefit from less restrictive placements in the community if those existed, and the Department of Human Services,

of course, has the Bureau of Medical Services Licensing and Certification Division which licenses adult boarding homes. In our own department we're looking at funding some specialized boarding homes, and the Department of Mental Health, I understand, although I'm not privy to a lot of the information, I understand they are looking at also funding of specialized boarding homes which would need much more clinical expertise in order to deal with some of the difficulties from deinstitutionalized patients.

In our own Division of Adult Services, we have been trying for the last year to put together a specialized boarding home of this nature, and we have the beds assigned to us from our Division of Medical Services, which means that we can do it if we are able to get through the - if we're just able to put it together. It's a difficult process. So we're working on our own six-bed facility.

MR. WALSH: I think the summary is that of the 45 patients, there are few of them that at this point we feel that we could develop an outside placement for.

SEN. GAUVREAU: Peter, of the 45 patients, we have also a summary of the Probate Judge's report, Judge Mitchell. Are these the same individuals -

MR. WALSH: Yes.

SEN. GAUVREAU: Because they came from his court?

MR. WALSH: Yes.

SEN. GAUVREAU: What I was just trying to get at before, I see a pattern of some concern. Many of these people seem to be, or

at least the allegation is they're being overmedicated, and that's what Judge Mitchell's summary seems to indicate. What I was concerned about was whether the department feels that - do you have concerns that perhaps patient care at AMHI in many of these cases is so inappropriate as to justify changing - taking a person out of the hospital and to another provider?

MR. WALSH: That was one of the concerns that we had when we looked at a number of the patients, was the medication, and that was one of the specific things that we asked the medical and psychiatrist to look at.

MR. BANCROFT: The questions that we raised initially were based, again, on educated lay people reviewing the records and raising questions, and we saw instances of - with the heat over there, psychotropic medication or medication which addresses the mental health difficulties, psychosis, with the heat it seems to interact so that there were some cases that we noted in the record, which were very adequately documented, that there were cases of orthostatic hypotension is the word, which basically is the person becoming groggy and sometimes passing out as a result of the medication and the heat and not enough water and so forth, and the blood pressure drops, as I understand it, and a person is liable to just pass out. So we were concerned about those with our public wards and we noted those and we made - and there were other instances where it just appeared that a person was receiving a high dosage of psychotropic medication, just out of context with the behavior as we saw it, and we referred

these to two psychiatrist. We had one psychiatrist originally who, just because he was too busy, only evaluated - came in and evaluated one person for us, and then we had another psychiatrist, quite a reputable psychiatrist who has little to do with AMHI, although I don't think there's a psychiatrist in Maine that doesn't have something to do with AMHI, he came in and reviewed, I believe it was 16 of our concerns, specific concerns, and reviewed those records at our request thoroughly and met with all 16 of the wards. This was two months after our initial assessment. In the meantime, a MD had been in there reviewing many of those same 16 for medical problems which were associated, and he had noted some concerns about medication issues when he was in there a month previously. But then when the psychiatrist went in specifically to look at these issues only recently, they seemed, most of them, to have been pretty adequately dealt with and in most cases it was adequate to begin with. Some of the high dosages, for instances, seemed to be appropriate for the age and weight and psychosis of the patient. So some of them were unfounded to begin with and many of them seemed to have been dealt with by other - by our involvement we've made some changes.

SEN. GAUVREAU: Does that mean that the dosage levels in some cases was reduced based upon your focusing on the degree of medication?

MR. BANCROFT: That's correct, in some cases.

MR. WALSH: In fact, there have been many - as a result of our individual - you know, work with the individual patients, from

the time we started in June there have been many changes that have occurred. One of our patients was incontinent and was in a - placed in a room that was too far from the bathroom and was blocked in. That was something that was taken care of right away. We made sure the fire marshal got in to take a look at the room. So as we were going along, we have been sharing the information in terms of things that we thought needed happening right away with staff in the department and at AMHI. So there have been changes that have been taking place from the time that we began the review. In other words, we didn't just wait until this whole thing was completed and then get over there.

MR. BANCROFT: The important point that we might miss here is that we act as guardian on behalf of the individual, so they can't give medication unless we authorize it, and they can't give any levels other than what we authorize, and most of the treatment is supposed to be collaboration with us, and I think that after our involvement there, we have become much more active with them in reviewing it, and so it's kind of a two-way street in that respect. We act as the patient and they act as the treater, and so - but in some respects we requested that they be lowered, in other respects, they suggested that they might try it on a lower level for a while and we agreed.

MR. WALSH: But we did note, and one of the recommendations I made was that the system for notifying guardians was one that we believed needed to be changed and we have to take some of the responsibility, because we have - we've had one caseworker with

a large caseload over there. As this program - as I talked about, the program has grown, our knowledge about what our role is has changed as we've gone along, and we have discovered and found out that we just have to be much more pro-active and much more of an advocate, much more involved in the individual case plans, which is why we're hiring additional people right now, so that we will know more than we have in the past when a patient's need changes in their medication, when they need to go the hospital, we just have to know a lot more about the individual situations than we have in the past. And that's going to take additional staff and it's going to take additional systems in terms of notifying us when there are problems because we don't have people living over there, so there have to be clear lines of relationship in terms of us knowing when there is something happening.

SEN. GAUVREAU: Representative Boutilier.

EXAMINATION BY REP. BOUTILIER

Q. I have just two quick questions. I didn't want to spend a lot of time on the one case you mentioned about Massachusetts, but it seems to me that there's an inherent conflict of interest to have an out-of-state firm assess a patient to their own facility. Didn't you find any conflict of interest in that regard?

MR. BANCROFT: No, because his behavior makes him - he's not a candidate due - because of his behavior in the five facilities that I mentioned. The refusal was that we needed to get those officially in writing in order to justify our going to Medicaid with

such an exorbitant request. They were not - we approached them originally and they were screened out immediately.

MR. WALSH: Every facility is going to do an evaluation of whether or not the patient fits their particular program. That happens with children and with adults as well.

Q. Maybe there was a miscommunication and I didn't understand. You said that you felt that this patient would be properly placed in that out-of-state facility. They then assessed the patient to find out whether that was the case?

MR. BANCROFT: No, we originally evaluated the five facilities that - the three in Maine, certainly, first, and it was determined right away that he couldn't be adequately served at those, and then we got - we went further and further afield until we found this New Medico system which said that they thought they could deal with this type of individual and they came up and did an assessment and said they could.

MR. WALSH: In other words, what we will try to do is look at the ward's needs and then try to identify a program that says they work with those types of needs, and then they will do an assessment. We'll start in Maine.

Q. But you understand my concern --

MR. WALSH: Absolutely, right. In many cases it's not so much a question of having a pure evaluation saying this is the place to go to, but actually, and it's the same with children services, of actually - you know, there might only be one program in the

country that says that they will work with that type of a problem.

Q. And the second question, and it's a reiteration of what Paul was saying, and I guess we're all concerned about it. If you got to the point where you made a major decision to assess all the public wards, you've talked about the long term of establishing better communication because you don't want DHS people living there, what are you doing now though in the short term? How far apart are your current assessments? For instance, in terms of medication you said that your involvement did cause changes in care. Well, obviously we want that to continue. What's the distance between your assessments on an ongoing basis?

MR. BANCROFT: We have - the commissioner, in fact, has directed us to continue this process twice yearly with our - in other words, there's going to be a case review system set up for our public wards in the institutes.

MR. WALSH: A complete assessment, as we did -

MR. BANCROFT: Which would be similar to this assessment process where - in other words, some of us from outside the facility will come in and review the caseworkers and AMHI's work. We're going to review it from outside.

Q. So during that process you would also see the notes, see whether the reduction that originally occurred because of your involvement had continued through the time and between the next time of the assessment?

MR. WALSH: Yes, that's correct.

MR. BANCROFT: And at this time right now, partially through the

Judge's involvement, we are reviewing 12 of the more - what the Judge considered to be the more serious situations monthly, we're doing those monthly right now. In fact, we just had our first monthly report on those 12, which is very similar to the original assessment, only it's an ongoing - the original question is what we've done this month and what we plan to do next month, and so it's an ongoing process.

MR. WALSH: And we're also involved, really, on a day-to-day basis. We don't have somebody who lives there, but we have somebody who is there most of the -

MR. BANCROFT: We have someone there daily.

MS. SALDIVAR: But we also have a caseworker who, when we hire the project line, will no longer have 80 cases, she'll have 40, which means the caseworker can attend the team treatment meetings, can participate and be more of the advocate.

Q. Better awareness of each case?

MS. SALDIVAR: Absolutely, yes.

MR. BANCROFT: We were in a situation where the facility more or less had to tell us what was happening, and then we either agreed with it or not, and what we need to do is to become more active in seeking treatment that we feel is appropriate.

SEN. GAUVREAU: Representative Rolde.

EXAMINATION BY REP. ROLDE

Q. Peter, when you were talking about plans for some sort of a group home that you were working on, and then you sort of intimated that the Department of Mental Health was also doing that,

it led me to think, what type of coordination is there between the two departments? It's always been historical around here that they haven't gotten along together too well. Do you work closely with them?

MR. WALSH: Yes, we do. We work closely with them on a case-by-case basis in terms of our people being involved with the treatment teams at the patient level, in terms of communications with the managers at the institutes, and in terms of sharing of information from that level and the commissioner's to the other department.

Q. For example, are you going to be planning group homes, are they going to be planning group homes? Do you have an overlap, is there going to be -

MR. WALSH: We're working on just one specific group home. They have all the other funds that were allocated by the legislature to develop community-based alternatives. Again, our responsibility isn't just the people who are at AMHI but to other wards as well, so we are constantly trying to look for ways of expanding community-based programs, not only for the people at AMHI but for our other wards as well in the community.

Q. But in this type of planning you work together?

A. Yes, we work closely with all levels of the department over there, yes.

Q. Okay, my other question is, presumably you've had wards at AMHI for a long time. Why has this problem just suddenly exploded?

MR. WALSH: Well, as I spoke -

Q. I may have missed that.

MR. WALSH: Most of the people who are wards have lived at AMHI, some of them for very long periods of time. The program has grown from one in which we had no state wards - four state wards, to one where we now have 450. We have had - we first became involved with AMHI in, I think, '83, '84 or '85, where we went from zero to 50 wards. We did an initial assessment when those people came into our guardianship program and we've had staff over there. But as I said, we've been learning as the program has grown, and it was a result of a number of different things that started coming together, actually, in the late spring, early summer, that caused us to begin to do a much more intensive review of what was happening over there.

SEN. GAUVREAU: Representative Burke.

EXAMINATION BY REP. BURKE

Q. Can you go over your chronology just a little bit for me? You told AMHI what you were going to investigate?

MR. WALSH: Yes. We told them that we were going to be doing an assessment of all of our wards.

Q. And then how long was it before you then actually got in there and did it?

MR. BANCROFT: Two weeks.

Q. Two weeks. So you gave them fair warning that you were coming, what you were going to look at. Did you find it at all surprising that when you got there there were still deficiencies?

MR. BANCROFT: No. They apparently didn't treat us any differently. I think there were - some of the things we heard

were that they were used to having groups of people come through. I think they were just extremely busy and overcrowded and understaffed and were trying to keep up, and I don't think they - my opinion is, they didn't have time to do any scurrying around.

Q. And you made sure that the staff that was on the wards that you were looking at belonged on those wards and hadn't been pulled from other wards to beef up the charts or anything like that?

MR. WALSH: We made a number of recommendations regarding staffing patterns, regarding - we looked at records. We looked at records going back 50 years. We have one ward who has been there for years. Some of the investigations that our protective services people are involved with were alleged incidents in 1984, so we really did a fairly complete review.

MR. BANCROFT: Those incidents, for instance, the 46 public wards that we have there are well-known - there's public knowledge there, it can be determined who they are from public records, but when we went over, we assumed that we were going to find certain things and one of the things that we thought we might find was abuse and neglect, you know, with overcrowding, those conditions do occur, and we did, and we made referrals immediately to our protective division, our protective program within our division, and those were - those investigations then were not told to AMHI. In other words, we went over and we said we're going to do an overall assessment of all 46, and when we found things like referrals to our protective division, we did not

tell them who they were or what they were, and the protective people came over and did their investigations without informing them in advance.

Q. Will we get a copy of the adult protective findings?

MR. WALSH: Yes. We can certainly give you the results.

MS. SALDIVAR: Those are just being completed right now, and we need to follow the confidentiality standard --

MR. WALSH: They can't share with this committee the individual records but -

Q. No, no, I understand that. And in terms of the specific findings that were referred to physicians and psychiatrists and things like that, the things that Judge Mitchell had requested, could we also see a copy of those types of things, again not violating anyone's confidentiality but -

MR. WALSH: We can certainly do a summary, as we have done with the other information.

Q. In a shorter amount of time than six months?

MR. WALSH: Oh, yes. We could put this together in the next month.

Q. Okay.

MS. SALDIVAR: I'd just like to add that during the interim, while we're getting these followup reports, we've been having scheduled meetings with the AMHI staff in particular, so that we have been sharing what these results are and what the recommendations are so that they, as the caretakers, can, in fact, move and act on these reports that we are getting. So it is a

process that we're involved in. We're just going step by step.

Q. Two quick questions then. One, do you feel that now because of your focus on these particular 45 or 47 patients, that they will then be receiving a little more attention, needless to say, more attention than they had been receiving prior to your visit, but also more attention than some of the others who are not then state wards, causing abuse and neglect of non-state wards?

MR. BANCROFT: My personal feeling is that that probably won't be the case. We are concerned, by statute, with our public wards, naturally, and we decline to - by statute, again, we didn't have the statutory authority to investigate the rest, but I don't think from my involvement over there that anybody felt - I didn't get a feeling from any of the staff or administration over there that that might be the case. And that, surely, I don't think would cause neglect of the others.

Q. Did you do any kind of comparison with a chart? You walk onto the ward, you say I want to look at the charts of Mr. Smith, Ms. Jones, so on down the line, these are the state wards. Did you pick up another chart to see if, in fact, your charts had been beefed up?

MR. BANCROFT: Those other charts would be confidential to me, too.

Q. So there's no comparison then, really, you don't know whether or not giving them that two weeks allowed them to beef up the charts that you would be looking at?

MR. BANCROFT: I don't know that for certain.

REP. BURKE: Okay, thank you.

SEN. GAUVREAU: Representative Cathcart.

EXAMINATION BY REP. CATHCART

Q. Sorry if I missed this, but now that you've done this assessment and will soon have the full report, with the new staff how often are you going to be able to check on these same patients in the future?

MR. WALSH: We're planning to do a full-scale review twice a year with a team, where we will go in and have the team look at the whole thing.

MS. SALDIVAR: Using the outside consultants again.

MR. WALSH: Right, with our staff. Our staff is over there now, even the person that has a lot of cases is over there very often, and when we hire new staff, they will be there even more often. We're hiring an additional person to work with the guardianship cases, and we're hiring an additional person to do investigations of patient to patient abuse, staff to patient abuse, whatever it may be. So we will have - they will be - I've been saying that they will be staffed in our regional office in Augusta, but they will be spending most of their time at the facility visiting with the patients. It really will be on a daily basis that we will be working in terms of developing the treatment plans, checking to see that they're being kept up to date, getting the second opinions when we feel they're necessary, and then we will be doing the more formal review at least twice a year, and on some patients we're going to be doing formal reviews that will be

sent to the Judge, I think, every three weeks for the next year, as he's asked us - once a month.

Q. I wish there were some way we could have such thorough checking up on all the patients at AMHI instead of just your wards there. I'm concerned about the fact that they knew two weeks ahead also that you were coming, and there's still the glaring problems, such as overmedication and the incontinence and they never considered that maybe the person wanted to drink a lot of water because of the overmedication and that was why they always had to go to the bathroom and which is way down the hall. I'm just sort of distressed, that it seems to me that DHS is having to hire new people to check up on the other department on things that just should be routinely checked on and taken care of at AMHI. That's the way it sounds to me, is that your advocates are going in and yet AMHI only has one advocate for all of those patients there.

MR. WALSH: Again, our statutory responsibility is as a substitute decision-maker for the person over there, and for other mentally ill people, they're involved with the treatment planning. We're not - one of our functions is advocacy, certainly, but we have to put ourselves in the role of the patient.

MS. SALDIVAR: The informed consent issues, for example.

Q. I understand that. But would you agree with me that what you found in doing this assessment was that the patients were getting woefully inadequate treatment?

MR. WALSH: I don't think we found - we found some cases where

there was woefully inadequate treatment. What we found was - were individual situations, many of which, again, have been corrected, and some of which our outside consultants said, well, it looked like this was too much medication, but when we looked at it again it seemed appropriate at the time. Many of these problems - we were in there, again, at the same time that the legislature was beginning to look at the overcrowding issues and many of those other issues, so we were in there at the same time this public expression of what the problems were over there was going on, so I don't think we were tremendously surprised in terms of looking at the individual cases. And then we were pleased with the legislature's allocation of the funds it had allocated there, because we think that that's going to help a lot in terms of the problems that we have discovered, and, in fact, has already begun to take hold. And certainly when the community-based - you know, when you have an institution that is overcrowded, the best answer - I have caseworkers in children and adult services who have too many cases, and the best answer is to have fewer cases. And when you have an institution that's overcrowded, the first thing is to stop the overcrowding, and the way we're going to do that is through the development of alternative placements and then having additional staff. So what I'm saying is, my point is that the issues that we discovered were the same issues that we were - that the legislature, we think, saw in the - when they addressed the problem in the fall. So we weren't greatly surprised at - Tom, I don't know, you were with

the people over there - in terms of doing the reviews. There were some situations that we felt needed rectifying right away, and we met with the mental health officials over there and made sure that those situations were rectified.

Q. I've just been so concerned, because what I read in this report is that there is a lot of dehumanizing of these people in that hospital, and if that was found in a number of cases when they knew two weeks in advance that you were coming to assess them, I just fear for the other patients.

MR. WALSH: I really don't think that two weeks in advance - I wasn't over there during those two weeks, but the kinds of issues that we found, the policies and procedures that needed correcting, for instance, we found that there is no policy on sexual assaults, on dealing with sexuality of patients. Here you have an institute that has adults over there. Adults have sexual urges, and we found, and that's some of our recommendations, that there be developed policies on sexual assaults, policies on what happens with sexual issues because they're going to come up in an institution like that. I don't think that a two-week - knowlege that we were coming in within two weeks was going to make much difference in terms of the issues that we discovered.

Q. Just one question about BMHI. You said you're just beginning your assessment there. Have you gotten any reports at all back? How many patients do you have that are your wards there?

MR. WALSH: We have about 50 -

MS. SALDIVAR: It's 62, I think.

Q. Have you got any preliminary findings? Can you just -

MR. BANCROFT: We're more than half through our initial assessment, which then remains to be written up. So I guess we're half through. We have assessed close to two thirds of the population up there that we need to assess, but we have not written up all those so that - you know, we're only about half through.

MR. WALSH: What's your general impression?

Q. Yeah, I want to just -

MR. BANCROFT: Well, the general impression is that it's kind of early to say, but the overcrowding, it's not the same type of problem, I don't think.

Q. So you're finding it markedly different? And if so, better than AMHI or can you make that statement?

MR. BANCROFT: I'd have to say it's markedly different.

Q. Are you finding the same kinds of problems in general, the overmedication and the improper use of seclusion and restraint and such?

MR. BANCROFT: The ones that I've been personally involved with, I have not seen those same problems.

Q. And you think it will be maybe six months before you have -

MR. WALSH: No, I'm talking about six months before our total overall report. These assessments, we will finish the team's and then we have to write it all up, and then we have to bring in the outside, so that's what I'm saying in terms of getting the whole report finalized, it just going to take more time.

REP. CATHCART: Thank you.

EXAMINATION BY REP. CLARK

Q. Peter, I guess I've got questions that fall into three kinds of categories. One is, I'm still having trouble with the relationship of your department to the Office of Advocacy. For instance, it occurred to me as you were talking about the fact that you didn't have access to other records to compare, could you have gone to one of the advocates and had them do that? I don't know that, it's just -

MR. WALSH: We operate under specific statutes. If we get a specific complaint of abuse or neglect or exploitation of an adult, then we would open that as a protective case. If a person gets referred to us as being incapacitated or dependent, we would open - we would assess that case for guardianship. Other than that, we do not have any reason, and I don't think we should have, to go looking other people's records.

Q. Okay. But what relationship do you have with that Office of Advocacy?

MR. WALSH: We have a very close relationship with the Office of Advocacy. We have clearly spelled out memoranda of agreements. We've had - in fact, we've had an agreement that the Office of Advocacy would do the investigations, the protective investigations, at AMHI for the past three years, so we have had a close relationship. They have access to our records. This confidential report, the statute allows them, and they have a copy of our report. They will get copies of our findings. They basically get everything that we have.

Q. Did I hear you say that your goal is to have a staff to patient ratio of one to forty in terms of your wards at AMHI?

MS. SALDIVAR: That's what will occur based on getting a project line for this particular caseload, but we've recently completed some standards for caseload sizes, and the ideal, if you're to do the work with the clients and on their behalf and the advocacy role, the ideal would be no more than 25 cases per worker.

MR. WALSH: We have some additional people coming on - we've requested from the legislature some additional staff in adult services. But the guardianship program is continuing to grow and I don't think that the end is in sight. I think that the more litigation there is regarding consent issues, regarding people in nursing homes, I mean if every nursing home in the state came to us and said we want you to come in and assume this role, which some of them have done, it's a problem.

Q. Based on your staffing assessment around DHS wards, if we were going to make a recommendation to the Department of Mental Health about the number of advocates that they needed in each of these institutions, what kind of staff ratio should we - staff to patient ratio should we be looking at? I mean, I hear one to eighty, I hear one to forty, I hear one to twenty five.

MS. SALDIVAR: Let me see if I can separate. The mental health advocates who are in the institute are with the Department of Mental Health and Mental Retardation.

Q. That's correct, I understand that, but if we're going to make a recommendation about how many more of them they need, it

seems to me that your experience at staffing with DHS wards might be helpful to us. But I'm hearing enough different numbers here that I don't know which one of those experiences ought to be helpful, is what I'm trying to say.

MS. SALDIVAR: The numbers and ratios I've referred to are the casework ratios.

Q. Okay but which one of those three ought this committee to be recommending or funding for the Department of Mental Health? What's your recommendation?

MS. SALDIVAR: I think it's apples and oranges. I think what we do in casework is not what the mental health advocate does in an institute. I think it really is quite a different role.

MR. WALSH: One of the things that I have found - I probably shouldn't be saying this, in foster care because there are problems - we are one of the few states in the country that have passed a federal foster care review at three different levels of compliance, first 65%, then 80, then 90% compliance, and I attribute that in great measure to the fact that we have a case review system. Every six months the case is reviewed by a person who works for me, or who has line authority from my office. They do not work for the regional offices, and they review every case. There's a team meeting, basically. If the child is old enough, the child participates. They have a checklist that they go down and those reviews are scheduled on a regular basis. That is an institutionalized way. I know that if I'm not here tomorrow or if the regional manager isn't there, that child

is going to be seen an outside - it's outside in terms of the fact that it's not in the line authority. That doesn't solve all the problems, of course, but it does in terms of know that the child has a case plan, knowing that we're working towards it, knowing that somebody outside of the caseworker is looking at that on a regular basis. I'm firm advocate of that kind of a system, not so much that we need all kinds of new advocate. To me, a whole set of new advocates tells me a lot of things that I basically already know that I've got to fix up, but certainly a case review that has that independent perspective and is looked in a very helpful way. Our supervisors look at it as a chance for them to come in with difficult problems and have some outside - we have volunteers now who sit in on those panels that we recruit and train, and we have community members, and they get to learn a lot about the system. So if you ask me about whether you should have a lot more people who are doing advocacy or more of something that's actually involved in helping in the treatment, I would actually push in that direction.

Q. Okay, that's consistent with the notes I made to myself earlier. Do you have a backlog of referrals to adult protective services at any of the institutions or at all of the institutions, and what numbers are involved in that?

MS. SALDIVAR: We have a backlog of guardianship study requests but not adult protective referrals, and they really are quite separate in what we are being asked to do.

Q. What's the numbers in terms of the guardianship?

MR. BANCROFT: It's not so much with the numbers as it is the length of time that we've been not able to deal with them. We have some that are overdue a year.

Q. Would you check on that more specifically both in terms of numbers and time waiting for assessment?

MR. WALSH: We can probably get to that today.

MR. BANCROFT: Sure, we can get that.

Q. You know, are we talking about 50 or are we talking about 150 or are we talking about -

MR. BANCROFT: Less than 50.

Q. Okay. There were rumors that it was considerably higher than that.

MR. BANCROFT: You mean that are awaiting studies or to assume guardianship?

Q. Hm-mm.

MR. BANCROFT: No, it's less than 50.

Q. Okay. My final question is somewhat unrelated, and that is that the Committee on Aging handed me a copy of this booklet this morning, which I have to say has not come to my attention up until now. What recommendations that are in here related to this population have you been able to act on, and what is in the pipeline?

MR. WALSH: Some of it has to do with additional staff that we've already talked about. Some of it has to do with changes in policies and procedures, better coordination between the departments. Those are the areas that we've been working on.

Q. And specifically I noticed Recommendation 1, I recall here, is that we're now going to have an IDC for adults.

MR. WALSH: We haven't brought together an interdepartmental committee for adults, but we have initiated formalized discussions between the department and the Department of Mental Health and Mental Retardation regarding services to adults. We haven't moved to the full point of bringing in other departments. We thought we would start there first and first sort out issues that relate to our two departments and move on from there.

One of the - it wasn't mentioned in that report, but one of the things that we will be recommending to the legislature is transferring the adult services program from the Bureau of Social Services, you will be getting a bill on this, to the Committee on - to the Bureau of Maine's Elderly. Ninety percent - 95% of what the Bureau of Social Services deals with are child and family service issues. Over 75% of the people who are seen in the adult services program are 60 and over, and the ones - the other 25% are younger people with chronic problems that are going to be lifelong problems. So we are recommending - we'll be recommending that the adult services program be transferred within the department to the Bureau of Maine's Elderly. That means that the elderly legislation will have to be changed to enable them to serve some people who are not 60 years of age, and I personally believe - that was something I've been pushing, that it will strengthen both the children's programs in the bureau, as well as the adult programs.

Q. My sense is that we probably -- that this has been the year of the child, let me put it that way, and that probably many of these adults, whether they're senior citizens or not, have gotten lost in the shuffle as we've -- the publicity around some children's issues, so I would certainly support some things that would keep that in perspective, at least.

MR. WALSH: In some ways that's the way our system works, that things get to a crisis point and then we deal with them. I've been watching the Savings and Loans, and I thought President Bush hit the nail on the head when somebody said who's to blame for this, and he said, well, there's enough blame to go around for everybody and it's time to move on with the positive solutions. I feel the same way, really, about this particular situation. I'm sure you've heard it, you've been listening to it, that we certainly can do more and are planning to do more. I think that it's a type of situation where we really -- AMHI is going to exist, BMHI is going to exist, and people need it and we need it and the state needs it and we've got to do everything we can to fix up the conditions that are there.

REP. CLARK: Thank you.

EXAMINATION BY REP. MANNING

Q. Let's go back to the housing situation. I don't think you hit on it as much as I wanted that Neil brought out. You had indicated that you were working on a six-bed facility. What -- who is going to go in that six-bed facility?

MR. BANCROFT: The Department of Human Services' public wards.

Q. And what would be the reason they would go in there? Would it be mental illness?

MR. BANCROFT: The majority of cases we had contemplated would be.

Q. Has there been any talk at all with the Department of Mental Health on this particular project?

MR. BANCROFT: We told them we were doing it.

Q. What was their reaction?

MR. BANCROFT: I don't recall one.

MR. WALSH: And this is something that we - in the adult services program -

Q. Yeah, but this is a pot of gold that we all have, whether it's in mental health or human services, and I'm just trying to figure out, you know, who is doing what out there.

MR. BANCROFT: We have not found it to be that way, Representative Manning.

Q. Well, we have to look at it that way, we as the ones who are the appropriators of the funds have to look at it that way, and I'm just wondering whether the right foot knows what the left foot is doing in this case.

MR. WALSH: We are certainly aware of their plans and their funding of community programs. Those programs, when they get started, will be of benefit to the people that we are serving. Our people will be able to use those programs and they will be available. This other program was something that we started. Our caseworkers spend 75% of their time, at least, trying to find placements for people in the protective services program and

in the guardianship program. That's constantly what they're doing, looking for adult boarding homes, looking for -

Q. Peter, in two days of testimony with the Commissioner, and bringing back the bureau director of mental health, there was never any indication that the Department of Human Services was also starting a program to have the six-bed facility. We asked him to outline the community area. There was never - I mean, if we didn't have you back here today, we would have not known that there was going to be a six-bed boarding home out there somewhere.

MR. WALSH: We started developing this program two years ago. We started looking at where we could get funds. We started looking at where we could get funds. We started working with Medicaid. This was something that really we have been working on and -

Q. Well, let me tell you - let me go back six months, when I sat in the Commissioner's office and said, let's take \$2 million and go out there and buy homes throughout the whole state before the price of homes go right off the market so that we have homes out there, and they said, no, we're working with the Maine Housing Authority. Never did they say they also had six beds also on line, coming on line with the Department of Human Services.

MR. WALSH: I have to say this is something that started in our office. We started looking at the need for that. We started putting together the pieces in terms of a funding plan.

Q. I think Neil hit it right on the head. This has been going on

for nine years and I thought we had calmed it down when we put the, I think, interdepartmental council together, but it hasn't. We don't know what is going on because one isn't telling the other completely.

MS. SALDIVAR: May I respond just briefly to that? The work group between the two departments that has just recently been initiated as a result of the ID - task force. In fact, I think there are meetings this afternoon. We are going to be meeting, and we've had a couple of meetings to set this up so that we can talk with my Bureau, the Bureau of Maine's Elderly, the Bureau of Health and the Bureau of Mental Regardation, and today's meeting was to bring in the community piece of what they will be doing. But we decided the first agenda item was going to be public guardianships, because BMR has a public guardianship program, as well as we do, so that BMR and us, and bringing in Mental Health, I do think this small work group at my level will begin to understand what's going on and coordinating.

Q. Well six months ago they were going to start doing community stuff with housing and all that stuff, and all I hear is meetings, meetings, meetings. I mean, we're in a crisis over there, and if it takes meetings today and meetings tomorrow and meetings next week, something has got to be done. If you can get people out of there, and you say you can get six people out of there, then we ought to be doing something about it. I mean, it's funny that your department can get all kinds of money, and that department up on the fourth floor can't get any money. I mean,

you talked about I'm going to get an advocate, Peter, you're talking about a person who is going to go one to forty ratio. The advocates here yesterday said they put in their budget for another advocate over there and got shot down by the Department of Mental Health, or got shot down by the Governor's office, I don't know, but I'll find out whether it was the department saying or whether - yet, you can get one to forty and they can't get another advocate over there. You know, when you talk about what your people do, it's basically the same thing. A caseworker and an advocate do almost the same thing. I can't imagine that there is many other different things, but I'm shocked to sit here and hear you say, well, it's in my budget and it's in Part II, right?

MR. WALSH: Yes, we have a request for additional staff in the adult services program.

Q. So it got all the way through the Governor's office?

MR. WALSH: We've been requesting it as -

Q. So Human Services gets -

MR. WALSH: I said we had not had any additional staff since 1985.

Q. Yeah, but Human Services got the cut, but Mental Health did not get the cut. Mental Health did not get a cut when it came to the advocate?

MR. WALSH: All I can talk about, Representative Manning, is that we presented out needs. Many of our needs were cut as well, many of our requests were cut, the adult services request has been cut.

Q. But, Peter, when you look at a one to forty ratio, and you look at what the rest of the advocates over there are trying to do and are getting burned out in doing it, when one state employee starts looking at a one to forty ratio and he's getting burned out because he's got all these problems over there and one department can get funded to have a one to forty ratio and the other department can't get funded to have another advocate, what does that do to personnel? And forget whether they work in that department across the street or this department upstairs -

SEN. GAUVREAU: Can I break in? I think Peter will be saved by the bell. We received a phone call from the Speaker urging our immediate attendance at the Joint Convention, so why don't we recess. We'll reconvene at 1:15 p.m. The members, after we finish here, will catch up with the southern-central Maine tour.

RECESSED AT 10:55 a.m.

X

STATE OF MAINE

HUMAN RESOURCES COMMITTEE

HEARING ON AUGUSTA MENTAL HEALTH INSTITUTE ISSUES HELD ON
FEBRUARY 7, 1989, IN ROOM 113 OF THE STATE OFFICE BUILDING,
AUGUSTA, MAINE.

Maralee Kaler

TABLE OF CONTENTS

WITNESSES

PAGE

EXAMINED AS A PANEL

WALSH, PETER

BANCROFT, TOM

SALDIVAR, JOYCE

Examination by Representative Manning

I-1

Representative Rolde

I-17, 20, 2

Representative Boutilier

I-18, 21, 2

Representative Burke

I-21, 39

Senator Gauvreau

I-27

Augusta, Maine
February 7, 1989
2:35 P.M.

SENATOR GAUVREAU - Back on the record. We are renewing questioning with the Department of Human Services related to the Department's survey of the wards in its custody at AMHI. When we broke off this morning, Representative Manning was - had certain questions to Peter Walsh and we'll begin at that point.

EXAMINATION OF MR. WALSH, MR. BANCROFT AND MS. SALDIVAR

BY REPRESENTATIVE MANNING

Q. Now that I've had dinner, I don't know if my blood pressure's come down.

MR. WALSH - Well, I don't want to do anything to raise it back again, Representative.

Q. You can see the irony of the fact that the advocates yesterday were indicating that they have not had the ability to get more advocates; and yet in Part 2 of your budget you have got more people just to deal with strictly AMHI. There is some irony in that situation.

MR. WALSH - I don't know if I misspoke. We are in the process right now of hiring four new staff; two of those persons will be in our protective services program and will have as their primary responsibility responding to abuse/neglect complaints from the institutes - BMHI and AMHI. Two of them will be added to our public guardianship program. One of them will be stationed with most of their clients at AMHI - not stationed at AMHI, but will have clients at AMHI and one of them at BMHI. In the Part 2

budget we had a general request - this was put together last spring and over the summer - for additional caseworker staff because of the numbers that I was talking about in the general public guardianship program and the protective program; and there's only three additional caseworkers in that request. So, - and I also think that the - I just can't comment on the - whether or not the advocates have or should have more staff. That's something that's in another department.

Q. We sat here and unfortunately maybe you probably should have been here yesterday for the whole day. I didn't think of inviting you; but now that - now looking at it from what the advocates told us I think it probably would have been beneficial for you people to be here because they told us a much more graphic description of what is going on over there compared to what we had heard by two previous people who spoke, both Commissioner and Bill Daumueller. So, it bothers me that a department like yours where - and I'm not saying that ought not to have it, but if this administration recognizes the fact that the guardianship program is growing and they do have a number of individuals under their guardianship program at the two institutions, that two of those people's primary responsibility is to watch out for those 60 at Bangor and 45 at AMHI, you're talking, you know, roughly 100 people for two staff persons primary job; and yet the advocates yesterday who have to cover all the other people plus yours - if memory serves me right you had indicated that they had the ability to do a number of

things under an agreement signed three years ago. Those are the things that disturb me. The administration on one hand says yeah you can have this and on the other hand the advocates - it's no wonder we get people burned out.

MR. WALSH - Without again commenting on the number of advocates, I think that the job of the advocate and the caseworker are two significantly different jobs. The caseworker has ongoing responsibility for actually participating in the care and treatment for those 45 wards for whom - that they're representing. The advocate has - I think has a different job in terms of overall monitoring of conditions, investigating individual issues. So, I think the jobs are different jobs. Again, that's not to say that you don't need more advocates. But, I know that we need more caseworkers to do the job that we have to do now. That's what I do know. And really, I have to leave the number of advocates up to the Department of Mental Health.

Q. I know you get what you can get. We know how that works. Peter, you talked about, and it disturbed me to hear you say that this was a normal procedure that you were starting to look at what happened - the guardians at AMHI. It was a normal procedure. I think if memory serves me right, maybe, Tom, you had said that you had because of maybe people over there you thought it was time to start taking a look at those people. This is how that investigation started, right?

MR. WALSH - I think when we first started doing - getting involved

on a higher level than we had been before, we had not contemplated doing a full scale assessment of all of our wards. When we first started thinking about this we responded to some issues that were brought to our attention about particular individuals and we went from the particular individuals to a decision after we reviewed those that we had to do the full-scale assessment.

Q. Where were those - when were those particular incidents happening? What was the time frame of that?

MR. WALSH - June and July, right. We first started responding - during the month of July -

Q. Let me ask you this. That's what I'm trying to get. You're saying in June and July. As somebody who's responsible for the guardian - being guardians over the State wards, weren't you - didn't a major red flag go up when AMHI lost decertification?

MR. WALSH - Yes.

Q. That's what I want to hear you say. Let me put it this way. If I'm in your position and I read in the morning paper in the KJ that the certification at AMHI - that Medicare just decertified AMHI, maybe those aren't your patients; but if they're happening to some other patients, jeeppers, something must be happening to mine.

MR. BANCROFT - I might be able to give you a little more detail, Representative Manning. The Medicare decertification was, I believe, in the spring. I think it was in May. And, we were concerned, as you said; and it was only a couple of weeks later

June 13th that Judge Mitchell in Probate Court in Kennebec County - we were seeking a guardianship of an individual at AMHI on June 13 in court and he expressed his concern at that time about our plan which has to be filed at the time we seek guardianship. In other words, what we're going to do to offer treatment on behalf of the proposed ward. And, he said he wanted an amended plan from us due to the Medicare decertification announced previously and he wanted to certify adequacy at AMHI. This was sort of a major departure for the judge who had originally granted guardianship for individuals at AMHI because AMHI was certified, AMHI was JCAH accredited, AMHI was seen as an adequate treatment facility. After that decertification he became more concerned and he expressed that concern to us in one of his orders on June 13th for a specific ward that we were seeking guardianship of.

Q. But I mean when that red flag came up, would it have taken the Judge of Probate for you people to start something?

MR. BANCROFT - Well, that was one of the areas.

Q. Granted, you're both under the same administration; but you do have under the State laws responsibility for people. Wouldn't somehow somebody say maybe we ought to get a team over there and find out how our people are doing in May? I forget what day it was in May that we lost the certification, but it would -

REPRESENTATIVE BOUTILIER - April 29th.

REPRESENTATIVE MANNING - April 29th.

REPRESENTATIVE BOUTILIER - May 29th. Extended from April 29th.

REPRESENTATIVE MANNING - I'm just - that's a concern I have 'cause at first I thought I heard you say, you know, you didn't hear - and I don't think anybody in this room is talking about just the Medicare patients. But, if Medicare decertified a segment of that institution, then the - it would seem to me that the rest of the people over there might be in as much of a particular problem as the rest of AMHI. That's - I'm concerned that it took Judge what do you call it - Judge Mitchell to make you people take a second look at that.

MR. BANCROFT - He was one of the reasons.

MR. WALSH - We did not at the time of the Medicare decertification - at that time we just did not see a need to do a full-scale, full-fledged review.

Q. Let me put it this way. When Susan Parker called me on a conference call to inform me that we lost certification, we were decertified, I was quite frankly shocked. And me as a lay person and as a legislator, if I was shocked, people who have your ability and your capacity under the State Laws of the State of Maine should have been saying hey, let's get a team in there tomorrow.

MR. BANCROFT - Again, Representative Manning, I'm speaking for myself and I most usually act as guardian, I can most definitely say that we took it very seriously and that I was personally upset to the point that within - well, from May 29th to the time that we were in there in July beginning our assessments and then the full-fledged team came in early September, it

seemed as though we were responding as rapidly as we could at the time. There was a lot of things that happened in between with the wards. We heard from -

Q. Let me ask you this question. Hypothetical question. If in December you learn that you lose JCAHO, is it gonna take two months to reassess what's going on; or are we gonna have somebody in there and say okay, another plan of action for these 45 state wards has got to come up.

MR. WALSH - We would have to see what the impact of the loss of that would be on the wards.

Q. Ten million dollars in Medicaid I think we were told during the course of the hearings.

REPRESENTATIVE BOUTILIER - It wouldn't be December; it would be June.

REPRESENTATIVE MANNING - Well, whenever. Peter, I'm just telling you I would hope that we - your department can react a little faster than that in the future. I understand you run under a lot of workload and believe me this Committee will be the first one to be supporting your positions, probably, for caseworkers. We've never not supported additional caseworkers and additional people that your department has asked for. I just think that - I'm wondering whether or not if Judge Mitchell had said nothing, would we have had a Department of Human Services record.

MR. WALSH - Yes we would have. And, I can say that because Tom

and Joyce's concern was heightened. The concern of our case-workers was heightened. We had never done a - as I said before in my testimony, we have had a tremendous number of wards in the last five years. This is - we might be one of the states with the highest per capita program in public guardianships. It's a new service that is being provided by states to the extent that we're providing it. So, we have learned that we have to be more assertive as a result of all of these situations and that being more assertive means that we are going to be instituting regular reviews. We are going to be putting more staff over there. We are going to be training our staff in terms of being more assertive and taking - so what I'm saying is we have learned a lot by this situation as well. If in hindsight the day that they lost Medicare certification - I don't think that we probably would have had a team in there much before when we had it anyway. So, I think we moved as fast as the circumstances at that time would allow.

Q. With the additional personnel you're asking for in the Part 2 budget, are you - how are they gonna interact with the advocates over there? Can you take us through - I mean, it sounds - and I have no qualms whatsoever you getting these people. Believe me. But, I don't want to see - we heard yesterday a lot of non-cooperation of state employees with the advocates. Can you take us through how this is gonna work, Tom?

MR. BANCROFT - The guardianship program - I think we can say that

we cooperate quite well with the advocates because we - the guardianship program is a little different thrust than the protective program, for instance, where they're going in and investigating abuse and neglect. In the guardianship program we are - we see ourselves as consumers of services at AMHI. We represent the patient. So that the advocate also represents the patient in a different way by trying to effect systems change. It's difficult for us as bureaucrats to effect a systems change but sometimes it's necessary on behalf of our wards. We see ourselves cooperating - we have cooperated very well with the advocates in the past.

Q. So if you had a problem over there with a guardian knowing that you are a bureaucrat, and there's nothing against bureaucrats.

MR. WALSH - Professional bureaucrat.

Q. Professional bureaucrat. And there's nothing against them, believe me. Representative Rolde was once a professional bureaucrat. He did a good job at it in his other life. Would you tend to see yourself going more to the advocates to see something change for your clients rather than going through the chain of command through the departments?

MR. BANCROFT - We've done it both ways, Representative Manning. The advocates - in fact it was only a couple weeks after the 13th when Judge Mitchell gave us our first letter that we met with - on June 29th we had a regular meeting at AMHI with the casework supervisor, myself, program specialist, Rick Hanley who was the Deputy Superintendent, and Tom Ward who was the

patient advocate at that time and now is an advocate elsewhere. And, Tom Ward at that time told us that we had two wards in danger. He felt we had two wards in danger. This was basically what really alerted us. And, he named names; he named a couple of names. And, we were in there within a week assessing. That was what we considered to be the beginning of our assessment process right there - it was from the patient advocate over there. The administration was also present at the time, but it was the advocates that gave us the information and caused us to act.

MR. WALSH - If I could just also say that again we share our information with the advocates. The report of these assessments that we did went to the advocates for the disabled. That's not to say that there are not - we're in a process right now of negotiating whether or not the advocates should serve - should represent our wards over there. We're doing some negotiations with them about their representing them as attorneys.

Q. When you talk about advocates, Peter, let's talk - what advocates are you talking about?

A. I'm talking about the advocates for the - the formerly ADD advocates for the developmentally disabled which I understand now is advocates for the disabled.

MS. SALDIVAR - Maine Advocacy Services.

MR. WALSH - Maine Advocacy Services, right.

Q. You're not talking about the in-house advocate.

MR. WALSH - As well as the in-house advocate, yes.

Q. What do you mean by negotiation?

MR. WALSH - They have written - the Maine Advocacy Services has written to us requesting to become the legal representative for certain clients - certain wards; and so we're just - we just want to make sure that if we do allow that to happen that we're doing it in accordance with all the statutes. So our attorneys are looking at their request and we've got some correspondence going back and forth.

Q. Are you dealing at all with the in-house advocates?

MR. WALSH - Yes.

MR. BANCROFT - That's what I was referring to.

MR. WALSH - He was talking about the in-house and I was talking about the -

MS. SALDIVAR - In addition, the in-house, the Mental Health Advocate - the resident advocate at AMHI, for example, we are negotiating with them as well to renegotiate our 1985 agreement. I do not know what you heard about noncooperation yesterday or before, but I do know -

Q. It was mostly noncooperation I think amongst members of the staff over there towards the advocates.

A. You mean AMHI's staff.

Q. AMHI's staff.

MS. SALDIVAR - I do know there are problems in terms of establishing a protocol within the institute whereby reports and incidences will come to the mental health advocate in the institute and whereby they will all come to adult protective

as we will be in the protective program as opposed to the guardianship. Assuming responsibility under our law instead of delegating it to the mental health advocate, we'll be assuming responsibility especially for the resident versus resident incidences where harm happens to one resident or both. So that the mental health advocate and us in adult protective have been and continue to work on this in a very cooperative way and we will have this worked out. We will have the protocol and we will be working together on certain investigations, others they will do, others we will do.

MR. WALSH - We've had a memorandum of agreement since 1985 with the advocate's office at AMHI and that agreement has been in effect and has been - I actually call it a memorandum to disagreement because you never pull it out 'til you have a disagreement and then you pull it out and you look at it and say what are our roles here and how do we resolve this problem.

Q. Peter, let's go back to housing. It intrigues me about the six-bed unit. Where's the funds coming from?

MR. WALSH - I just want to go back. It surprised us this morning about the six-bed unit. I think a year and a half or two years ago Joyce and Tom came to me with a proposal to start a six-bed - I don't even think they said a six-bed - they said they needed to get a program going for some of our hard to place clients. Public wards.

Q. Public wards that are under what diagnosis?

MR. WALSH - At that time the request to me was hard to place public wards.

Q. Okay. So we could not - are we now hard to place public wards who are diagnosed with mental illness?

MR. BANCROFT - Many of whom would have diagnoses of mental illness. That kind of equates with hard to place.

MR. WALSH - Our public wards, again, live in various places. In fact I had a breakdown of some of them are in institutions, some of them are in nursing homes, some of them live in their own home and some of them live in boarding homes or other places. And our staff spends a great deal of time trying to find placements for the incapacitated adult. And, many of them are at - at one point they might be at AMHI, then they're out again. So, we have had a chronic shortage - difficulty in terms of placement of some of these people and some of them are even harder to place than others. So, at that particular point I have to say that for the Adult Services Program we have no federal funds. It's not like our Children's Services Program where we have a lot of social security and other related activities. So, anything we do basically is with State money or if we can access Medicaid and other kinds of things. So at the time we did not have the money. So I said to Joyce of course we'll support it if you can find the money in your budget. So, that's like saying that we don't have it. Of course we put it into our budget request but we didn't get it. So, Joyce is persistent and the next she said well I'll

wait 'til next year. I have a special support account and I'll take the seed out of there and I'll see if we can get Medicaid to help with the funding. So, this was a year ago and Joyce has since then been working with Medicaid. They have agreed to not only seed it, but to fund it. So we are now - we've gone through a process of identifying an agency to run this. The State isn't gonna run it. We're going to contract it out. We had one agency that was ready to start the program and then for some reason they are not able to do it. So, we're back to the starting boards again in terms of finding an agency.

MR. BANCROFT - A provider agency is what the problem is.

MR. WALSH - This was kind of like a separate track that we had started in the bureau. A small program to deal with some of our difficult to place wards. It really had very little to do with any of the other activities that were going on at the time.

Q. I'm concerned that one is doing one thing and one is doing the other and we might be dealing with the same type of individual.

MR. WALSH - Well, one of the reasons why we said we had to try to get something like this going is the Bureau of Mental Retardation has a model - a couple of programs that they have set up for very difficult to place people who are mentally retarded and they have taken some of our clients if they meet the definition. Well, sometimes there's negotiations. But we

basic - we said we need to have that same type of -

Q. In other words, it's still tough to negotiate with the Department of Mental Health and Retardation?

MR. BANCROFT - Yes.

MR. WALSH - Yes. Right.

MR. BANCROFT - Extremely.

Q. Did you hear that Nancy?

MR. WALSH - When we're talking about the six hardest to place people who are in our state custody, we're talking about some people that have some serious problems and that they require a lot of intensive supervision and care. So what we said was we like this model of this facility they have. We need one of those for ourselves and that's when we started to put one together.

Q. Have you talked at all - let's say tomorrow the X, Y, Z non-profit organization decides they will take it, which Tom said that basically is what's holding up the problem. Would you be taking those six patients out of the AMHI situation or would you be using those beds for people who will be coming down the road?

MR. BANCROFT - There are three that we had contemplated removing from AMHI that we thought would be suitable if we could get the right provider. One of those, I understand, has been placed already and we don't know whether that's gonna work. One now we have determined to be terminally ill and probably won't be able to be placed. But, it's an ongoing

process of evaluation. We feel fairly certain that of this - at least a few.

Q. Okay. Okay.

MS. SALDIVAR - There are also some in the community that are not getting what they need in their existing facility and need the structure, need the programming that would come with this type of facility that doesn't exist in, let's say, the boarding home over here on whatever street, so that when you have incapacitated adults, if you can get the special programming, the special structure within the home that we were hoping to develop, it would benefit several very difficult to place public wards for which there are no existing resource.

MR. WALSH - I think if we had some caseworkers in here to talk about the types of problems people have, when they get to the point where they need a public guardian, you are talking about people who cannot be served usually with all of the services that we have out there. If they're in boarding homes they don't stay very long. If they're part of the elderly services network they just can't make it. I'm talking about the people in the streets. Some of them are in nursing homes already. But, we are talking about the people you see on the streets. Those are the public wards and I'm just saying that it's a very difficult problem to find appropriate placement.

Q. I don't think anybody on this Committee is upset with the fact that you're going out and doing it. I think it was - well, my concern is whether or not we got two departments of State

government trying to go out and do something that maybe one ought to be doing and you ought to be having some slots.

MR. WALSH - Well, we certainly were very pleased to see the community side of the special session because many of those placements that get set up will be set up for some of our people at AMHI and others that will be coming down the road. That certainly is going to help with our problem.

Q. Would you keep this Committee informed on how that process is going. Hopefully on a monthly basis so that if there is need to do anything before we leave here in June that we might want to shape whatever could help you out on it. Following up, Representative Rolde has a question.

EXAMINATION OF PANEL BY REPRESENTATIVE ROLDE

Q. I have a couple. One is the last thing that you said. Have you seen any impact yet? It was last September I guess that we gave the money for the beefing up of community services. Have you seen any impact?

MR. WALSH - I don't believe the facilities are actually up and running. So, no we haven't.

Q. You have not. What would you do with your 45 wards, and presumably you may have more in the future, if you couldn't put them at AMHI? What kind of a situation would that put you in?

MR. WALSH - I don't think there's any place for the majority of these people.

Q. Could you make a determination sometime that the conditions there were so bad that you couldn't keep anybody there?

MS. SALDIVAR - An example of that would be like when a boarding home has been closed because of deplorable conditions that can't be remedied and we have had to move people. I think these are sicker people than what - but it is an analogy.

MR. WALSH - This would be - the hospitals around the state would have to take these people I think. The psychiatric hospitals. Some nursing homes would. It would be difficult.

SENATOR GAUVREAU - Representative Boutilier?

EXAMINATION OF PANEL BY REPRESENTATIVE BOUTILIER

Q. I just wanted to expand a little bit on what can't be remedied. If you don't have an option - the community and the hospitals are not geared to take up those 45 people; if you don't have it as an option, then it's very difficult for you to ever get to the point where you say there isn't a remedy in the current location, correct? When does it become situation where there isn't a remedy? When you close a boarding home it's no longer there, so obviously there's no remedy to that. But, conditions can get quite deplorable and still you can say we can find a remedy.

MR. BANCROFT - When the boarding home - one of the boarding homes that Joyce referred to - closed, we became guardian of I think six individuals at the time because they were not able to enter into placement for themselves. And, at least

I'm not sure of the numbers - but many of those were placed at AMHI when that boarding home closed. Many of them went back to AMHI. They had been AMHI patients in the past and had been placed in the community and the community placement turned into a worse facility than AMHI ever was and they ended up going back to AMHI.

MR. WALSH - If AMHI were to close, the first thing that would happen to us is that our emergency telephone system would get a call for us to place all 300 or however many patients there are over there and I would think that's what would happen.

Q. I'm acknowledging that that is not one of the remedies because you don't have those choices. What I'm saying is at some point you have to say things are so deplorable, although we could remedy the time lag is too long and we have to make a choice on those DHS wards as to what we do. Now, have you made a determination as to how long you would wait for a remedy to occur before the remedy wouldn't be helpful?

MR. WALSH - We have looked at that on a case-by-case basis and we have had some wards where if some things had not happened we would have removed -

Q. Immediately, two weeks, three weeks?

MR. WALSH - Yes, immediately.

Q. Then you would have removed those people.

MR. WALSH - We would have removed the individuals, yes.

Q. Then you would have come to the conclusion that if it hadn't happened immediately, there would have been no remedy

sufficient to meet your requirements and you would have moved people.

MR. WALSH - Right.

Q. Now, you're gonna be - you're continuing to do the assessments on and on and on.

MR. WALSH - Right.

Q. There are certain things you're gonna see again probably, because of the situation over there. The deficiency is going to reoccur. How often would the same deficiency that you originally wanted to be changed immediately was, but was temporary. How many times would that occur before you'd say the remedy is not possible and we're gonna remove people?

MS. SALDIVAR - I think we would base some of those decisions on safety of our wards.

MR. WALSH - Just for a specific example - I know you reviewed the case of the person who was raped. There absolutely has to be separation of the perpetrator from the ward and if that's not going to happen, we're gonna remove that person.

EXAMINATION OF PANEL BY REPRESENTATIVE ROLDE

Q. I was just gonna ask you to be specific about the kinds of situations where you've said you've got to remedy it right now.

MR. WALSH - That's one.

Q. Are there others without giving any names or anything like that?

MR. WALSH - We're looking at the inappropriate placement - potential inappropriate placement of the head injured fellow in terms of having a better treatment for that person.

Q. I understand that. But, you were saying that there were some that seemed to be in such situations of danger you said you had to make an immediate -

MR. BANCROFT - That rape situation was the best example. I can't think of any others offhand.

EXAMINATION OF PANEL BY REPRESENTATIVE BOUTILIER

Q. But some - you mentioned during the testimony that excessive medication was rampant and that in some cases if there hadn't been any immediate decrease in the medication, the size of dosage, that you would have removed the people. Would that be -

MR. WALSH - We would have tried to.

MR. BANCROFT - I think in a situation like that we can just say that we're not gonna authorize that much medication. We don't have to go so far as to remove them because we're authorizing the medication in the first place.

REPRESENTATIVE BURKE - But, are you there on a day-to-day basis to see what kind of medications they're getting? I mean if there's an order written like Ativan prn, you don't know how often prn is.

MR. BANCROFT - That's true. There might be occasions like that.

MR. WALSH - But again, that's why we've instituted these regular

reviews that we're gonna be doing so we can pick that up. And, we're gonna be continuing to use the second opinion aspect that we've used. I would say that another possible, although we didn't have one, would be if there was a medical emergency and we felt that the person wasn't getting adequate medical attention.

EXAMINATION OF PANEL BY REPRESENTATIVE ROLDE

Q. You had mentioned this boarding home that closed and the six people that were put back at AMHI. Could you give us a little more background? Was something that was under your department or under Mental Health?

MR. WALSH - We've had a number of them over the last years.

MR. BANCROFT - I was talking about Willowcrest in Pittston.

Q. Okay. The reason that I'm asking is that we're being told that community facilities are the answer to AMHI overcrowding and you're telling me that these community facilities are badly run enough so they have to be closed.

MR. WALSH - I think if you have a continuum in just about any field, that we have some excellent facilities, some fair facilities and some poor facilities.

Q. Who was running this particular one?

MS. SALDIVAR - This was quite a few years ago.

MR. WALSH - I was thinking of one in Bangor that we closed in 1981.

MS. SALDIVAR - That was Jefferson Manor.

REPRESENTATIVE MANNING - I might add after the Human Resources Committee.

MR. WALSH - They get licensed by the boarding home program in Human Services and after repeated visits, after repeated citations, the decision was made that they weren't able to provide the type of care that we wanted. In the Jefferson Manor situation, I think we went in and had to develop and found placements for 46 - for 40 people.

REPRESENTATIVE ROLDE - I guess what I'm trying to get at is we're being told that this is a good strategy for solving the overcrowding problem. One, now I'm confused as to which department it's in, because it doesn't seem to be coordinated between the two departments; and, as you said, when it closed six more people went over to AMHI. So, -

MR. WALSH - Right. But the coordination comes in terms of who does the licensing of these facilities. The boarding homes -
Q. You do the licensing.

MR. WALSH - In the Department of Human Services, right.

Q. Who puts up the money for these?

MR. WALSH - There are various sources of funds that are used. Private patients' funding is used. Their Social Security and their SSI payments. The boarding home program provides funding. The original funds to set it up for the new programs were allocated by the Legislature for the new community based programs.

Q. Allocated to which department?

MR. WALSH - To the Department of Mental Health. In the special session. In the last - during the special session there was a -

Q. This last special session?

MR. WALSH - Right.

Q. I'm talking about in the past. I'm still not getting a clear picture of - if you've got a system out there and it seems to me you're doing one part of it and they're doing another part of it. One of these boarding homes closes. More people go up into AMHI. Now we're being told you gotta open more homes so that you can take people out of AMHI. Who's doing it and -

MR. WALSH - If you had - if you looked at a facility out in the State of Maine and you looked at where the funding comes from and where the licensing comes from, you would find that it comes from a lot of different places - the funding. Again, individual patients would be contributing if they had the resources. There would be funds that would probably be supporting some people from Mental Health through funding mechanisms there. So, some of them would be supported by Medicaid most likely. So, there would be a variety of different funding sources, similar to children's facilities.

Q. So in other words, in order to solve this problem of AMHI and its overcrowding, we really need to look at two departments instead of one department, am I correct?

MR. WALSH - We have a significant role, yes.

Q. I wonder just - I guess I have to ask myself out loud is how much you have been involved, how much the two Commissioners have worked together to try and deal with this; and if history is any judge, it's probably not at all.

MR. WALSH - I think that there has been a lot of communication and coordination at the Commissioner level, at my level with people in the department, at Tom's and Joyce's level, communication with the Superintendent, and certainly with our caseworkers who were over there working on a daily basis with the staff at AMHI. We have formal agreements with the departments. We have formal agreements with the advocates. So, there is a lot of communication. Has it solved all the problems? No it hasn't, but there is -

Q. How much are you tied into their three and a half million dollars that we gave them which is to beef up community resources?

MR. WALSH - We will be able to access those facilities for people who have the types of problems that will be served by those facilities..

Q. Have you worked at setting up whatever plan or program -

MR. WALSH - We have discussed it with them. Yes.

SENATOR GAUVREAU - Representative Boutilier?

EXAMINATION OF PANEL BY REPRESENTATIVE BOUTILIER

Q. I don't want to totally get off the track, but I want to change the focus a little bit. That was the question I wanted

to ask earlier, but obviously we broke. The new OBRA regulation. We talked about 25 people possibly being placed in community - inaudible words - we've heard 12, we've heard substantial numbers, all of those different things. The OBRA regulations - the new ones are obviously gonna have a drastic effect as to applicability of placing those people in nursing homes, in community based service areas. Have you begun to address that feasibility if we start spending a lot of money on community resources and find we're not gonna be able to place some of those people in those settings because of the new regulations at OBRA. Do you have a response to that?

MS. SALDIVAR - The Bureau of Medical Services has been setting up joint meetings with multiple groups including mental health and Adult Protective has participated in those meetings because we will be able to do some of the initial assessments in terms of placement; but, we're now going to be the designated representative of the agencies, etc.; but, there's a very - you're right, there's a very real impact not only on new admissions to nursing homes when there's that primary diagnosis of mental illness, but those who are in nursing homes now who will be reviewed and may not be allowed to stay if they do not have the medical backup. So yes, that's an external force that's going to impact on both departments.

Q. It's my understanding - maybe they could explain OBRA for the Committee's purpose. But, my understanding, the OBRA

regulations are much more strict in terms of -

REPRESENTATIVE ROLDE - What is OBRA?

SENATOR GAUVREAU - The Omnibus Reconciliation Act of 1986.

REPRESENTATIVE BOUTILIER - And, they're much more strict in determining an assessment of mental illness and whether that's properly placed and you have to set it in least restrictive areas. So, you can explain a little bit more. I think it's going to have a drastic effect on any kind of placement of AMHI patients that are acute.

MR. BANCROFT - For those nursing home patients.

REPRESENTATIVE BOUTILIER - Yes.

MS. SALDIVAR - And, any dementures other than Alzeheimer's we'll be responsible for our clients to make sure they have neurological exams which is another whole additional - and this is good. We think it's good, but reality - so yes, that does have a big impact. They're just doing the training now so that we're just beginning to udnerstand what an impact this will have on all of our clients in both departments.

EXAMINATION OF PANEL BY SENATOR GAUVREAU

Q. I was intrigued. I reviewed the document which is styled 'Overview of Probate Judge's Report on Guardianship Clients Residing at AMHI' that we have received. This is a summary of the Probate Court's findings. And, I was trying to read that in tandem with your report and then filter into this my perception of the last six days of hearings. I'm mindful that there's a certain degree of hyperbole attendant to any

legislative proceeding and an advocate will always make the best or the worst possible case to dramatize. I understand that. But, I must say that we've received a rather gloomy and dim and even lugubrious picture of the conditions at AMHI and in fact there seems to be a systemic failure of appropriate care, not of an episodic nature, not occasionally, but on the order of the day seems to be inappropriate care rather than the exception. In going over some of these notes - they're cryptic, but they do seem, for example, number 32 - range of problems included unreported assault, complete lack of attention to needs of clients, needs help with basic living skills; and they go on - another one here - down to 93 pounds, no follow up to mental care, inappropriate strip by staff, suspected abuse and neglect. And, we go on. We have other unreported assaults, suspected abuse and neglect, over-medicated. These seem to be more than simple idle or even moderate concerns. They seem to be very, very profound concerns and what I'm trying to get a flavor of is what is the depth of concern of the Department. Do you feel comfortable with the wards being placed at AMHI now or do you feel that in fact perhaps for safety concerns they ought to be placed in another environment?

MR. WALSH - At the present time we do not feel we need to move any but a few that we've talked about earlier. We have serious concerns. We found a number of problems that new staff isn't going to solve. There are some overcrowding problems

and other kinds of things; but we've found a series of other problems for which we have made recommendations and some of which they've already started moving on. Some of the kinds of things that basically have to - any kind of an institution needs to have in place some basic policies and procedural - and I talked earlier about policies regarding sexual issues, policies regarding sexual assault. We found communications problems between staff, interdisciplinary types of problems, problems of one shift coming on with another shift and passing on information. We found problems regarding training. You have a lot of new staff turnover. That seems to be the story in human services these days. It's no stranger to me that we have a lot of turnover. Problems in terms of training. The new staff generally in a lot of cases will end up on the wards with the most difficult patients because the people's seniority. A lot of them want to move on to another place. We found problems in terms of lack of quality assurance. So, we have continuing concerns about some of these issues. We have made recommendations about policy changes, notifications to guardians - I've mentioned that before - that was an issue that we found. That we weren't getting notified - guardians weren't getting notified. We found problems in terms of working with law enforcement. In the rape case the rape took place at 11:45; the Superintendent was notified at eight A.M. and the Superintendent called the patient advocate. The police weren't called until the patient got to the hospital;

the hospital called the police. Yes, we found some serious issues. Coordination of medical issues, transporting clients. So, we have - I'm not - I didn't come over here to say that everything is fine over there. We think that the institution and the Department and the Legislature, through their allocation of new staff and funds and because they've acted on at least some of the recommendations that we have given plus some other things they were doing anyway, that my people tell me that they do not fear for the safety right now of any of our wards over there. Because, that is a question that I ask them on a continuing basis. But, yes there are a lot of issues that still need to be worked through.

Q. Now, you told us that you got how many people over at AMHI? Are there two over there now?

MR. WALSH - Staff?

Q. Staff people or assigned.

MR. WALSH - We have two - one of whom has just a couple cases. We have one person, basically.

Q. And you've asked for two new people to work strictly with advocates for wards in the institutions - AMHI and BMHI?

MR. WALSH - Two at each. One for protective services issues. Another thing that we've discovered with the advocates - the advocates were doing investigations of abuse. That was part of our memorandum of agreement. They would sent the results to us and we would review it. We discovered that they felt

there was a conflict of interest on patient-to-patient abuse allegations where one patient has abused another, because they didn't know who the client was. So, we are doing now and will be doing allegations of patient-to-patient abuse which happens in a facility like this. And, so, we need an additional staff person just to be able to pick up on those things. So we will have one additional staff person working on the life activities - the guardianship; and one doing the protective services investigations at each institute.

REPRESENTATIVE MANNING - Everybody, Peter?

MR. WALSH - The allegations of abuse, yes, would be anybody. It's staff abusing clients, allegations of; allegations of staff versus staff. We will be investigating staff versus staff - did I say that? We don't investigate those.

REPRESENTATIVE MANNING - Peter, could you expound on that.

I think you hit a lightbulb that I wasn't aware of.

MR. WALSH - Could you get us some advocates?

REPRESENTATIVE MANNING - You're talking about adult protective is gonna start to do -

MR. WALSH - Have started, yes.

REPRESENTATIVE MANNING - Have started and will be starting all abuse over there whether it's your people or Charlie Smith who was brought in by - whose father is a millionaire.

MR. WALSH - Right.

MS. SALDIVAR - What we're saying is that when there is a reported incident of resident versus resident that we will get that report

as well as the mental health advocate; and there will be some cases where we will jointly do some investigations with the mental health advocate, there'll be some where they will investigate - especially those in terms of the union issues that they're very familiar with. We need to learn their process. We need to learn from them and to work together. But, most of the resident versus resident - any resident at AMHI - we will be investigating those reports.

MR. WALSH - And we make referrals to law enforcement if we feel a crime has been committed. That's one of the first things that we do.

MS. SALDIVAR - Which is why we really want to get the protocol for the reporting clear.

MR. WALSH - Now of course law enforcement we don't want to get into how often they can follow up on the referrals that we make in protective services.

SENATOR GAUVREAU - If I understand this, it seems in the past that even when you folks haven't had what you say now is enough intervention in terms of developing individual client plans for your wards, now obviously you're trying to remedy that problem. You're offering your services for these patient to patient conflicts, assaults, whatever. The thought occurred to me earlier this morning we might be ending up setting up a two-tiered system, though, where there'd be an incentive for someone to have their relative named a public ward because

they'd have more direct intervention by you people; whereas the other relative might be living in Jonesboro and have only tangential communication in terms of medications, and really not have any idea whether his or her relative is being over-medicated or whether the treatment plan is really effective. You people - I'm not blaming you because that's your job. You're doing your job. But, people can advocate strongly for your wards, but their neighbor doesn't have that same system.

MR. WALSH - Well, that's -

MR. BANCROFT - This is already happening. Not only in the institute but everywhere in the State that we are supposed to be by statute the guardian of last resort and if family members are available and able and willing - that's what the statute says, if they're able and willing. Unfortunately, for many chronically mentally ill patients, family if they're able aren't willing or vice versa, so we end up being guardians. So that's already happening. And, there are many people who feel inadequate to deal with a complex system such as AMHI.

MR. WALSH - When I first heard this I said you mean they're going to be asking our social workers, some of whom are right out of college - we're going into an institute where the patient may have been there for 45 years - is that the longest?

MR. BANCROFT - I think the record is 65.

MR. WALSH - The record was 65 years. We're coming in now and we're gonna be making decisions about what kinds of treatment. So that's why we have to rely to a great extent on medical opinion, we have to try to put together a picture from the best opinions we can get about what the course of action would be, similar to a family that goes into a hospital and their elderly parent is dying and the hospital wants to know what they want to do. The best you can do to a great extent is get the best opinions you can get.

SENATOR GAUVREAU - Assume I'm Tom Ward, okay, who described to us his frustrations because just of resources. Someone calls him up and says, listen Tom - and I'm the mother of so and so, I'm concerned. Why wouldn't I, being an advocate, say well, you ought to have your son declared a public ward because you can get more direct and more consistent services. I will do what I can for you but realistically I'm only one person and here we have the Department that fortunately has two more staff people working at AMHI and also two others at BMHI. Wouldn't there be an increase in demand?

MR. WALSH - Tom says it's already happened.

MR. BANCROFT - I'm not saying that Tom Ward has given us referrals.

SENATOR GAUVREAU - I'm putting myself in Tom Ward's shoes. But, that would be very logical for Tom Ward to say that because he'd be getting more direct services to his clients.

MR. WALSH - Paul, I'm nervous about the 450 clients. The chart has gone from zero to 450. Where is it gonna end up? The populace is one of the reasons I want to transfer this program to the Bureau of Maine's Elderly.

SENATOR GAUVREAU - Representative Clark?

REPRESENTATIVE CLARK - With all that we've heard in the last two weeks, I'm feeling a considerably high level of anxiety when you say that you're gonna get the reports of patient to patient abuse, assault - whatever word we want to use. What kind of assurances do you actually have that you're getting them now?

MS. SALDIVAR - That's the protocol we're working on; and there are some issues and concerns. There's some reluctance for opening this closed place, and that has to happen.

REPRESENTATIVE CLARK - Is that around confidentiality issues or is it broader than that?

MS. SALDIVAR - Some of it's confidentiality, but there are some broader issues here in terms of past practice. Who used to see the incident reports, who can see them now, who shouldn't be seeing them, how are you gonna make sure nobody gets - and we're really sitting down and talking about all of this. That's part of the article that Peter brought you today.

MR. WALSH - I would really kindly recommend that you read this article. This is the best thing that I've ever read on dealing with patient abuse. It's going to happen in a public

institution.

MS. SALDIVAR - It does happen.

MR. WALSH - And this fellow was extremely realistic about that and said that there has to be the appropriate mind set. That's the first thing he talks about. In terms of the fact that you don't cover up instances of abuse, you give incentives for people to report them and bring them out into the open. Then you have well thought out continuum of discipline from minor abuse to major abuse; and he makes ten recommendations in here regarding ways in which institutions - one of the things he talked about, for instance, he says the very first thing that has to happen is that the Superintendent has to be on the wards every day, has to be known, has to be out there. Don Allen told me that when he was a Superintendent at the Maine Youth Center he said he made it a point every day that he was in Portland - sometimes he was in Augusta - he walked around that institution every single day. He was there. He came down at night. He dropped in. You never knew when he was gonna come. That's what this fellow says here that that's the first thing that has to happen is that there has to be - not only the Superintendent but the managers have to be out there. They have to be giving a sense of respect about the patient. So, really, I highly recommend reviewing this. And that's what I think Joyce is talking about when we say we have to recognize as a society that there are going to be abuse of patients against patients

in spite of - we can't ever have one on one. There are going to be instances of abuse of patients by staff and it will run from minor to major. It's how we respond to that and what the climate is that receives those abuse complaints that's important about what the quality of care at the institution will be.

REPRESENTATIVE CLARK - Obviously, we haven't had a chance to look at the article yet, but certainly one of my concerns as we've listened to all this is that there hasn't seemed to have been any reporting or any accountability and so who knows what, when they know it, that sort of says that for me has been of the most overwhelming things about all this is even when you talk about deaths it's not quite clear to me who knows how many people have died in that institution in the last year. And that - much less that there hasn't been an autopsy. I'm not even sure we know how many bodies there have been over there.

MR. WALSH - You know, I really think that in ways it's a shared responsibility. I'm probably getting off the track here, but as bureaucrats we do sometimes think that we're under seige and if you report something, the first thing is that the finger's gonna be pointed. That's what this fellow says in here in his - he says these approaches to dealing with the problem of patient abuse are more likely to be successful than the -inaudible - mentality that's often ruled the day.

And what he says is that the approach has to be a positive approach. We've been doing - we've got a new institutional abuse team, thanks to the Audit and Program Review Committee and some of the work that we did, that does children's investigations. And, I can tell you at the Maine Youth Center at one point we were not getting referrals. We now get referrals from the Commissioner. He sends them over. He says I want to make sure you get them. So they get reported to him or they come to us and he makes sure that they come over to us and then we get back to him. So, there is a perspective that it is expected and it is recognized that there are gonna be situations. We want to know about them and we want to take the actions necessary to resolve them. Again, it's not gonna solve all the problems, but that atmosphere, that openness I think Joyce was talking about has to be present.

REPRESENTATIVE CLARK - What kind of time line are we talking about to have this kind of program on line?

MS. SALDIVAR - I'm sorry?

REPRESENTATIVE CLARK - You said you needed some valid protocols. Is this gonna be in 18 months we're gonna be able to access these records or is it next week?

MS. SALDIVAR - No, it has to be fairly soon because the mandate we're responsible for -

REPRESENTATIVE CLARK - The federal mandate.

MS. SALDIVAR - No. Ours is the State's - the Adult Protective

Act. We do expect that those who are mandated, especially after being informed that they are mandated to report, will do so. And, there is recourse. So, this protocol has to be worked out. If the protocol is worked out in a way that reports come through one person who will then assume some responsibility for working with us on the screening, that's fine. That may be the way to start. But, the institute and the Department itself, or both institutes, will have to help us make that protocol clear, make the directives clear; and that has to happen within the next month.

REPRESENTATIVE CLARK - Thank you.

REPRESENTATIVE DELLERT - I was gonna comment on something that Peter said. Brad and I are on the Nurse Recruitment. I notice one of the things here is have a partner go along; and our nurses have talked about that, you know, having that or having a mentor or something and how well that that would work and that's one of the recommendations.

MR. WALSH - When I read that I said that's my situation. We have a turnover in adult protective and child protective. And, it would be great if we could say three times a year we're gonna bring new staff on board, we're gonna send them to the Criminal Justice Academy or to the Samoset or someplace and we're gonna train them for six weeks and it's gonna be on the job. We don't have the luxury of doing that. We have to fill the gap right away. So that's why I looked at that

and I said that's a great thing and we're doing something about it ourselves.

REPRESENTATIVE DELLERT - I would think that would work very well for the new staff. It's hard to train somebody quickly over at AMHI or anyplace for that matter.

REPRESENTATIVE BURKE - First of all, do you intend to do staff inhouse training on incident reprotng?

MS. SALDIVAR - It's already scheduled.

REPRESENTATIVE BURKE - Okay, and how long - how much do you intend to do it? What's the training session consist of?

MS. SALDIVAR - We felt we'd begin with a series. These are the kind of agreements that we worked out with Rick Hanley, the Deputy Superintendent, so we thought there would be a series of meetings, at least initially, about what is adult protective, what are indicators, and then move into the actual reporting piece.

REPRESENTATIVE BURKE - I anticipate - again, being a nurse - I anticipate that you will meet a lot of resistance from the staff, especially in the psych hospital, that says for God sakes, if we wrote out an incident report every time a patient hit another patient, we'd be here all day. You know, I have a feeling that, hey, you're gonna hit that right on - head on.

MS. SALDIVAR - I think we already have.

REPRESENTATIVE BURKE - Secondly, given that you are currently saying we own part of this problem when patients are abusing patients, when staff abuses patients, when patient's abuse staff

this is adult protective service purview. This comes under our purview. Why then when Maine Advocacy Services said to you there's abuse going on hospital-wide, why did you feel that was not under your purview to investigate?

MR. WALSH - We need individual allegations.

MS. SALDIVAR - We were still with our agreement, too, that -

MR. WALSH - That the advocate at the hospital were doing those investigations at that time as per our agreement. But, we also would have to have individual, specific instances reported to us.

REPRESENTATIVE BURKE - Which they were doing; or, which they were willing to do but you said this is not our purview.

MR. WALSH - Their letter said - let me get the language here - said that - asked us to conduct an investigation to the deaths of Mr. Isaacs and Mr. Bolduc and the illness of Mr. Poland.

That the Division conduct an investigation of conditions relating to safety and medical care of the remaining residents at AMHI; and that the Division provide protective services as necessary to protect individuals. So, we just felt at that time that we just did not have the authority to go in and do a full-scale review of that without specific allegations being brought to our attention.

REPRESENTATIVE BURKE - Well, did you state it that way in your response to them? Did you state that if you give us specific allegations against specific patients; or did you say we'll

only investigate the ones that are in our - that are our wards?
MR. WALSH - It says in response to the specific requests, the Division of Adult Services will be taking the following action pursuant to Title 22 MRSA 3478, referring the deaths, including Mr. Poland, who died on 8/19, to the Medical Examiner and the office of the Attorney General. Under the mandates of the Adult Protective Services Act and the Probate Code we will focus first on our public wards who are residents of AMHI and BMHI. We will conduct assessments of safety and medical care of the 47 DHS wards at and AMHI and 50 at BMHI. We will determine further actions on completion of these assessments and we will notify Commissioner Parker of our pending assessments and offer cooperative efforts regarding the remaining residents at AMHI.

So actually, when - part of our findings we found some - we did do some protective investigations of some persons who were not our wards that were brought to our attention. So in that summary that I read you earlier where eight were referred to Adult Protective Services, some of those were not State wards.

MS. SALDIVAR - Eight were wards and two were not.

MR. WALSH - Two were not wards.

REPRESENTATIVE BURKE - This is slightly different from what we had been - that we've heard all day, I think. That most of the day's been saying we've just investigated our patients; and had the advocacy services been aware that if they had

provided specific allegations, that you might have investigated each and every one of those, they may have been willing to provide that kind of information.

MR. WALSH - Unless we had specific allegations we would not have had the resources at that time. We had to pull people off of other programs to do the 45 wards.

REPRESENTATIVE BURKE - I understand that, but what I'm saying is that now you've said okay, every time we get a specific allegation we'll investigate it because we are Adult Protective Services. There was a lack of communication, to my mind, between your Department and Maine Advocacy Services because had they understood that if they had provided you with documentation on specific patient allegations, you could have ended up investigating the whole hospital.

MS. SALDIVAR - I think it's the confusion of the two programs as well. We did focus on our guardianship which is a separate program. We didn't get into the adult protective people until after some of the assessments were done. We were still operating with - communicating with the mental health advocates. So, that now we're moving to the adult protective. So even if they had at that time given us 20 names, I don't know that we would have moved in that way then that we would now today.

REPRESENTATIVE BURKE - So now the perceived need is greater. Once you've been there, visited it, saw the conditions, you said -

MS. SALDIVAR - And know that a lot of the incidents were not being reported to anyone.

REPRESENTATIVE BURKE - Yeah, we're very aware of that.

MR. WALSH - And, because of our agreement with the advocates at AMHI.

REPRESENTATIVE BURKE - Internal or external?

MS. SALDIVAR - Internal.

MR. WALSH - Internal. That we will be doing the patient to patient because of their conflict of interest.

REPRESENTATIVE BURKE - Okay. Personally, I'm relieved that you are going to take on the role of protecting them within the institution. My feeling is I wish that when you started the investigation for your guardians that that kind of investigation could have been done for people who were not necessarily your guardians. Again, the perceived response being well, if you're a guardian of the State you have a little more protection here than you do if you're just a payer.

MS. SALDIVAR - We will be offering training for private guardians. Seriously, yes.

REPRESENTATIVE BURKE - Good. That's a good step, too, yes.

MS. SALDIVAR - The Bureau of Maine's Eldery and our bureau are jointly developing the private guardian training.

REPRESENTATIVE BURKE - And this kind of literature will be left at the patient bedside, I assume.

MS. SALDIVAR - Yes. We'll -

SENATOR GAUVREAU - We're almost all set to break.

SENATOR TITCOMB - I just basically had a statement, and I'm sorry that Tom is not here. I personally think that considering the battle that our people from the advocacy office, whether they be in our outside the institute, I think we owe them a great debt of appreciation because very clearly if it had not been for them being so persistent in bringing out some very intolerable situations, it might have been considerably longer before you folks were called in, before we were alerted to the truly significant level of concern there is there. So, I'm sorry Tom isn't here to hear that. I personally feel a great deal of appreciation for their hard work.

REPRESENTATIVE BOUTILIER - Very quickly. You said you were concerned about your 450 cases. Would you say that part of the cause of the increase was your better communications say with Don Allen's ability to say we're gonna send them over there and communication with other groups and that you've got more people coming to you because they feel your program is good and there's better communication throughout the system?

MR. WALSH - Absolutely.

MR. BANCROFT - Definitely.

REPRESENTATIVE BOUTILIER - It's too bad you have so many 'cause you're on the staff; but it's a good thing as to why they're ending up in your -

MR. WALSH - The other reason is this consent to treatment issue.

that with our litigious society that we live in, people are afraid to - I'm not blaming you, Senator - people are just afraid of taking actions if they think that somebody cannot consent to treatment.

REPRESENTATIVE BOUTILIER - My last very brief question is in terms of the issues that Christine was raising and Marge raised - that is, whether you get the information. What kind of - I lost the word I want to use - overseen - what kind of authority you have, what kind of ways can you make sure that that's the information you're getting? Is there any penalty for them not providing information in a timely manner without falsifying or fudging the language of the reports and so forth?

MS. SALDIVAR - Yes, but we don't want to start with that.

MR. WALSH - First - as in this article - first, make it a positive thing to report. Recognize that it's going to happen and recognize that if you try to keep this hidden that it's just gonna get worse. Then you don't report things until they're so serious that you can't move on them. So that the fact that these things happen are part of the milieu and have to be taken into account in any good treatment plan. We do have some minor sanctions if we find that people - professionals who are supposed to report abuse do not report it. I don't think we've ever been able to prosecute.

REPRESENTATIVE BOUTILIER - You do have them. They are there. As a last resort - you don't want to use them but they are there.

MR. WALSH - I think the penalty is \$500. It's a civil penalty if you do not report - if you suspect - if you're a professional and are mandated to report and do not, I believe there's a \$500 fine and a referral to the licensing board.

MS. SALDIVAR - But, our chief AAG and Department of Mental Health and Retardation's AAG have been conversing on exactly this - the protocols, the confidentiality, the law, so we should have a good background to begin with.

REPRESENTATIVE MANNING - Couple quickies. You had said earlier you were working - Representative Rolde asked you of the 6.75 which translates the 3.75 million community money that the Department was given in September, you said that you were working with them to utilize some of that money.

MR. WALSH - We have had discussions with them.

REPRESENTATIVE MANNING - When have they told you to anticipate some of that community money being ready?

MS. SALDIVAR - I couldn't attend the meeting this afternoon which they were -

MR. WALSH - They were laying out the final plans, but we anticipate within the next couple of months some of it will start coming on line.

REPRESENTATIVE MANNING - Okay. 'Cause they're telling us February 1st. The final question - we've got to go - your Department licenses boarding homes, nursing homes, hospitals. To some degree, and some much more than others, the license at the hospital goes along with JCAH, yet we don't do anything

over there - absolutely, unequivocally, the license people in the Department of Human Services does not go in to look at anything.

MR. WALSH - They go into the nursing home over there.

MS. SALDIVAR - The nursing home unit.

REPRESENTATIVE MANNING - To certify it for Medicaid.

MS. SALDIVAR - And the infirmary.

REPRESENTATIVE MANNING - So other than that, there are no licensing people from your Department which go into every other place that this Committee looks at - boarding homes, nursing homes and hospitals. Yet our own people - inaudible.

MR. WALSH - Are you asking me to comment?

REPRESENTATIVE MANNING - I'm just asking you yes or no.

MR. WALSH - That's correct.

REPRESENTATIVE MANNING - I'll let you off. I won't let you editorialize. I want to see you here tomorrow.

MR. WALSH - I have long felt that we should have a set of standards for state institutions that are based on institutions - for private facilities. That's my own personal opinion. Please let the record note that. I think that it just makes sense to have a set of standards and guidelines against which we judge our public institutions as well as our private; and I understand there are some legal problems with that and some other things.

REPRESENTATIVE MANNING - Again, I just want to make sure that

everybody understood that. Okay, thank you, Peter. Peter, for my comment, I appreciate you being available even yesterday which you weren't able to get on and coming over and enlightening us on what you've done in the past. Please keep us informed on those issues we asked you. We do appreciate it.

MR. WALSH - Thank you.

SENATOR GAUVREAU - At this point that will conclude the hearings for today. Some members of the Committee might not be aware that there has been a late breaking development regarding the situation at AMHI; and that is the Department of Mental Health and Retardation has this day forwarded an initiative to the Appropriations Committee to fund additional positions at the institute. And, at this point, rather than close the public hearings, Representative Manning and I will discuss tomorrow whether it would be propitious to invite the Department to return. As you recall, during the course of their presentations the Department indicated a keen desire to work in a collaborative vein with the Committee in fashioning a meaningful response to the problems at AMHI. So, we may well invite the Department back to present to us particulars regarding the new initiative the Department has advanced. So, we will recess rather than adjourn the public hearing at this time and we'll reconvene on Thursday morning at ten o'clock in this same room.

HEARING ADJOURNED AT 4:00 p.m.